THE AMERICAN JOURNAL OF MANAGED CARE

SUPPLEMENT

Best Practices and Innovative Healthcare Reform Models

Highlights

- Value-Based Insurance Design: Embracing Value Over Cost Alone
- Integrated Delivery Systems: The Cure for Fragmentation
- A Guide to the Medical Home as a Practice-Level Intervention
- Innovative Health Reform Models: Pay-for-Performance Initiatives
- Lessons to Apply to National Comprehensive Healthcare Reform

Volume 15, Number 10, Supplement — December 2009



Best Practices and Innovative Healthcare Reform Models

FUNDING

This supplement was supported by GlaxoSmithKline.

• • •

The contents of this supplement may include information regarding the use of products that may be inconsistent with or outside the approved labeling for these products in the United States. Physicians should note that the use of these products outside current approved labeling is considered experimental and are advised to consult prescribing information for these products.

THE AMERICAN JOURNAL OF MANAGED CARE

Publishing Staff

Director of Scientific Content Jeff D. Prescott, PharmD, RPh

Director of Custom Publications Susan M. Carr

Editorial Resource Director Barbara M. Marino

Clinical Projects Manager Kara L. Guarini

Associate Editor Brandon Kopceuch

Design Director Charles Lebeda

Director of Sales JC Landry

National Accounts Managers Gene Conselyea Justin T. Gallagher Maria Likakis Phil Talamo

Corporate

Chairman/Chief Executive Officer Mike Hennessy

President/Chief Operating Officer Herbert A. Marek

Group Editorial Director Bill Schu

Business Manager Butch Hollenback

Executive Assistant Marcie Ottinger

Copyright © 2009 by Managed Care & Healthcare Communications, LLC



December 2009 - Vol. 15, No. 10, Sup.

Best Practices and Innovative Healthcare Reform Models

Table of Contents

Participating Faculty

S274

Reports

■ Value-Based Insurance	Design:	Embracing	Value
Over Cost Alone			

A. Mark Fendrick, MD; Michael Chernew, PhD; and Gary W. Levi, JD S277

- Integrated Delivery Systems: The Cure for Fragmentation
 - Alain C. Enthoven, PhD S284
- A Guide to the Medical Home as a Practice-Level Intervention
 - Mark W. Friedberg, MD, MPP; Deborah J. Lai, BA; S291 Peter S. Hussey, PhD; and Eric C. Schneider, MD, MSc
- Innovative Health Reform Models: Pay-for-Performance Initiatives

Seth W. Glickman, MD, MBA; and Eric D. Peterson, MD, MPH

 Lessons to Apply to National Comprehensive Healthcare Reform

Douglas A. Conrad, PhD

A Supplement to The American Journal of Managed Care.

PROJ A264

www.ajmc.com

S300

S306

PARTICIPATING FACULTY =

Best Practices and Innovative Healthcare Reform Models

This supplement to *The American Journal of Managed Care* reviews healthcare practice models and concepts such as valuebased insurance design, integrated delivery systems, medical home, and pay for performance; as well as discusses their role and application in healthcare reform.

Faculty

Michael Chernew, PhD

Professor of Health Care Policy Department of Health Care Policy Harvard Medical School Boston, Massachusetts

Douglas A. Conrad, PhD

Professor, Department of Health Services Director, Center for Health Management Research University of Washington Seattle, Washington

Alain C. Enthoven, PhD

Marriner S. Eccles Professor of Public and Private Management (Emeritus) Graduate School of Business Stanford University Stanford, California

A. Mark Fendrick, MD

Departments of Internal Medicine and Health Management & Policy Center for Value-based Insurance Design University of Michigan Ann Arbor, Michigan

Mark W. Friedberg, MD, MPP

Associate Natural Scientist RAND Arlington, Virginia

Seth W. Glickman, MD, MBA

Assistant Professor of Emergency Medicine University of North Carolina Chapel Hill, North Carolina Adjunct Assistant Professor of Medicine Duke University Medical Center Durham, North Carolina

Peter S. Hussey, PhD

Policy Researcher RAND Arlington, Virginia

Deborah J. Lai, BA

Assistant Policy Analyst RAND Santa Monica, California

www.ajmc.com

PARTICIPATING FACULTY =

Gary W. Levi, JD

Proprietor Lines of Communication LLC Medford, New Jersey Of Counsel Sherman Silverstein Kohl Rose & Podolsky, PA Pennsauken, New Jersey

Eric D. Peterson, MD, MPH

Professor of Medicine Associate Chair for Quality Duke Clinical Research Institute Duke University Medical Center Durham, North Carolina

Eric C. Schneider, MD, MSc

Senior Scientist and Director, RAND Boston RAND Associate Professor Division of General and Primary Care Brigham and Women's Hospital Harvard Medical School Department of Health Policy and Management Harvard School of Public Health Boston, Massachusetts

Faculty Disclosures

The faculty reported relationships with the following organizations:

Michael Chernew, PhD

Consultant/Advisory Board Member: CMS Hewitt Associates sanofi-aventis

Grant Pending: NIA

Grants Received: CMWF National Institutes of Health/NIA Robert Wood Johnson Foundation

Honoraria: AAMC Altarum AHIP HSR

PARTICIPATING FACULTY =

Best Practices and Innovative Healthcare Reform Models

Faculty Disclosures (continued)

Alain C. Enthoven, PhD

Consultant: Kaiser Permanente Institute for Health Policy

A. Mark Fendrick, MD

Consultant/Advisory Board Member: Abbott AstraZeneca Bayer GlaxoSmithKline Hewitt Associates InHealth MedImpact HealthCare Systems Inc Merck Novartis Perrigo Pfizer Inc sanofi-aventis ScreenCancer Tethys Bio

Research Support: AstraZeneca Pfizer Inc sanofi-aventis

Speakers' Bureau: GlaxoSmithKline Merck sanofi-aventis

The following faculty have nothing to disclose:

Douglas A. Conrad, PhD Mark W. Friedberg, MD, MPP Seth W. Glickman, MD, MBA Peter S. Hussey, PhD Deborah J. Lai, BA Gary W. Levi, JD Eric D. Peterson, MD, MPH Eric C. Schneider, MD, MSc

Signed disclosures are on file at the office of *The American Journal of Managed Care*, Plainsboro, New Jersey.

Value-Based Insurance Design: Embracing Value Over Cost Alone

A. Mark Fendrick, MD; Michael Chernew, PhD; and Gary W. Levi, JD

Introduction-The Backdrop

The US healthcare system is in crisis, with documented gaps in quality, safety, access, and affordability. Years of escalating costs—which will be pushed even higher by new medical advances¹—have not always paid off in terms of better quality or outcomes.² In short, we pay more than any other country for healthcare, but get less.³ We need to somehow contain costs, yet improve quality.

Across-the-Board Cost-Sharing and What Went Wrong

Many believe the solution to our cost crisis is increased patient cost-sharing at the point of medical service. The rationale^{4.6}: with more "skin in the game," patients would use only essential care, thereby eliminating wasteful overuse and reducing costs, with no effect on outcomes.⁵⁻⁷ Thus, higher copays, coinsurance rates, tiered pharmacy benefits, and high-deductible health plans have appeared across the board.⁴

Although the "one size fits all" cost-sharing solution has produced the intended effect (by dampening consumption), the underlying rationale has proved short-sighted.^{5,8} Ample evidence shows that increased, untargeted cost-sharing, even in modest amounts:

- Decreases use of essential care, including potentially life-saving medications and services (such as immunizations and cancer screening).⁹⁻¹¹
- Adversely affects compliance, adherence,^{6,12-14} and outcomes,⁵ and ultimately leads to worse overall population health.^{2,4-6}

From an overall cost perspective, reduced consumption of essential care may yield short-term savings but may also lead to worse health outcomes and markedly higher costs down the road—in complications, hospitalizations, and increased utilization.¹⁵

These adverse consequences flow from 2 major shortfalls in the "one size fits all" approach. First, it disregards heterogeneity—medical interventions have different clinical benefits for different people.⁸ Second, giving patients expanded cost and decision-making responsibility in isolation simply does not correlate with optimal clinical outcomes, especially for patients who are not adequately informed.^{1,4} Research reflects that patients, even when paying more, do not (some might argue cannot) distinguish between high- and low-value therapies.⁵ The latter shortfall bears emphasis. Shifting the information and decision-making burden to the patients:

Abstract

The US healthcare system is in crisis, with documented gaps in quality, safety, access, and affordability. Many believe the solution to unsustainable cost increases is increased patient cost-sharing. From an overall cost perspective, reduced consumption of certain essential services may vield short-term savings but lead to worse health and markedly higher costs down the road-in complications, hospitalizations, and increased utilization. Value-based insurance design (VBID) can help plug the inherent shortfalls in "across-the-board" patient cost-sharing. Instead of focusing on cost or quality alone, VBID focuses on value, aligning the financial and nonfinancial incentives of the various stakeholders and complementing other current initiatives to improve quality and subdue costs, such as high-deductible consumer-directed health plans, pay-for-performance programs, and disease management. Mounting evidence, both peer-reviewed and empirical, indicates not only that VBID can be implemented, but also leads to desired changes in behavior. For all its documented successes and recognized promise. VBID is in its infancy and is not a panacea for the current healthcare crisis. However, the available research and documented experiences indicate that as an overall approach, and in its fully evolved and widely adopted form, VBID will promote a healthier population and therefore support cost-containment efforts by producing better health at any price point.

(Am J Manag Care. 2009;15:S277-S283)

For author information and disclosures, see end of text.

- Ignores variations in intelligence, methods of learning, and education (the average US reading level is 10th grade)
- Ignores susceptibility to marketing messages, and consumer cultures and values^{16,17}
- Unjustifiably assumes that consumers have adequate information to evaluate benefits and costs.

Therefore, even if the premise of equating patient responsibility to responsible choices was watertight, a pronounced gap in both information and knowledge impairs informed decisions.^{2,5} This gap is particularly problematic among vulnerable populations (eg, the poor, ethnic minorities, the uninsured).¹⁵

Enter Value-Based Insurance Design

Value-based insurance design (VBID) can help plug the inherent shortfalls in across-the-board patient cost-sharing.¹ Instead of focusing on cost or even quality, VBID focuses on *value*,² aligning the financial and nonfinancial incentives of the various stakeholders and complementing other current initiatives to improve quality and subdue costs, such as high-deductible consumer-directed health plans (CDHPs), pay-for-performance (P4P), and disease management (DM).² The overarching goal of VBID is better population health rather than saving money.^{8,18}

We and our colleagues first introduced VBID (then called benefit-based copayment) in 2001.^{1,16} VBID has since evolved and been successfully deployed. More recently, VBID and VBID concepts have been incorporated into proposed healthcare reform bills in both the US House of Representatives and the Senate, with the latter expressly calling for a VBID demonstration program for Medicare.^{19,20}

VBID Defined

Approach and Scope

VBID is system-oriented and population health-centered, yet more targeted than across-the-board solutions.¹ Similar to those solutions, VBID recognizes that greater patient involvement and cost-sharing remain important to help solve the current systemic problems.¹ But VBID takes a "clinically sensitive, fiscally responsible" path to align incentives² and mitigate the negative clinical effects associated with increased cost-sharing^{2,9,21} by:

• Decreasing cost-sharing for interventions that are known to be effective and increasing cost-sharing for those that are not. Cost-sharing amounts are set in relation to the clinical value, not the cost, of a specific intervention to a targeted patient group.^{2,9} Targeting accounts for heterogeneity.

• More explicitly guiding patients to use high-value, and avoid low-value, interventions—addressing the information gap.

VBID's targeted, "clinically sensitive" approach can therefore yield efficiencies not previously achieved and, ultimately, generate better health outcomes for the dollars spent.^{1,2,9} Thus, VBID—originally associated with cost-sharing for pharmaceuticals—is now recognized as translatable to other healthcare services, including diagnostics, surgical procedures, and physician selection.²²

Moreover, VBID principles have been deemed key elements in national healthcare reform. This signifies a credible consensus on the merit of VBID. For example, in its May 2009 letter to the Senate Finance Committee, the American Academy of Actuaries stated: "There is inherent value in the implementation of value-based insurance designs."²³

Although limited data preclude VBID programs for all conditions, undisputed data on what works best are available for some, including the "Big 5": cancer, cardiovascular disease, diabetes, obesity, and respiratory conditions. For those conditions, more refined cost-sharing would likely produce higher-value care.⁹

Key Tenets of VBID

By switching focus from cost alone to the clinical value of health services, VBID aims to systemically restructure health benefits.²¹ Value-centric VBID programs promote optimum outcomes from expenditures while minimizing the nonadherence to evidence-based medicine (EBM) that attends acrossthe-board cost-sharing.²⁴

VBID flows from this 3-part algorithm:

- 1. "Value" equals the clinical benefit gained for the money spent.
- 2. Cost-sharing for all health services is based on their expected clinical benefit to certain patient populations as determined by EBM.
- 3. The greater the expected clinical benefit, the lower the cost-share.²¹

VBID aligns financial and nonfinancial incentives by encouraging use of—and reducing barriers to access for high-value services (those medically necessary or EBMrecommended) and discouraging low-value or unproven services.^{1,25} For example, VBID would have no or low costsharing for lipid-lowering therapy for individuals with a history of myocardial infarction, and higher cost-sharing for total body computed tomographic scanning.¹

Defining Value in Healthcare. High-value healthcare has been defined as the right care to the right patient at the right time

for the right price. Value equals what is gained in exchange for what is given up—the benefit relative to the cost. Applying this to an individual patient, value equals the health and well-being gained in exchange for the cost. From a populationhealth—and VBID—perspective, value is expressed as the aggregate system health gains relative to aggregate system costs.³

That said, what is "right" about care, time, and price is somewhat subjective.³ Private employers, for example, who are in business to make money and will bear the cost of lower VBID-driven copays, assess value differently and need a business reason for adopting fundamental change.

VBID, therefore, takes a "fiscally responsible" approach tethered to the real world, offering 3 tranches of potential cost-savings:

- 1. *Targeting*. For any intervention, skillful targeting can identify those who will benefit the most. This limits the number of individuals eligible for lower copays, and avoids higher treatment costs for those individuals down the road.^{2,9} Long-term savings can be enhanced by coupling improved targeting with initiatives to improve adherence.²⁶
- 2. Shifting costs to lower-value interventions. Plan sponsors can fund short-term subsidies of high-value services via increased cost-sharing for low-value services.²⁷
- 3. Increased productivity (eg, less absenteeism and presenteeism, fewer disability claims).8 Although many consider these savings difficult to quantify, a strong link has been established between worker health and productivity,²⁸ together with credible evidence of the associated costs and recently developed measuring tools. For example, a 2006 study of workers with diabetes estimated absentee costs of \$1000 per worker per year; costs for reduced performance (presenteeism) were 6-fold higher.²⁶ According to the American Diabetes Association, in 2007, diabetes accounted for approximately \$58 billion in indirect costs, attributable to 15 million workdays absent and 120 million workdays of reduced performance.²⁹ A 2009 study reported that health-related productivity costs (particularly for chronic conditions) were 2 to 3 times higher than direct costs and were strong drivers of higher overall healthcare costs. Comorbidities can drive costs even higher.^{28,30} Using productivity-loss modeling to assess the impact of impaired worker health, the city of Battle Creek, Michigan, discovered that employees were losing 13 days a year, 41% of which were attributed to absenteeism and 59% to presenteeism. The analysis also showed that recapturing 10% of productivity would yield almost \$250,000-equivalent to adding 3.1 full-time employees.³¹

Compatibility With Other Healthcare Reform Platform.

VBID offers a unified and unifying template to promote

value through compatibility with other healthcare reform $\ensuremath{\mathsf{platforms.}}^{24}$

Health Information Technology. Health information technology (HIT) refers to interoperable, systemic resources that combine electronic medical records, electronic health records, clinical information (eg, comparative effectiveness research [CER] and evidence-based guidelines), claims, and financial data. Top government policymakers consider HIT crucial to healthcare reform and economic recovery.

HIT is a central element of VBID. Because VBID targets benefits that encourage value and discourage waste, optimal results depend on relevant, objective, and actionable data (1) for clinicians at the point of care, (2) for consumer education, and (3) for decision makers to discern targets and evaluate results.

CDHPs. CDHPs and VBID complement each other. Both promote greater patient responsibility and EBM to encourage cost-consciousness and clinically appropriate high-value services, and discourage lower-value services.³² However, most CDHPs have imposed patient cost-sharing in isolation, which has raised the above-noted risk of adverse clinical outcomes and higher subsequent costs,³² and perpetuated the information gap that hinders informed patient decisions.

The next iteration of CDHPs could therefore be improved by instilling VBID principles. For example, insurers can offer more enrollee education about EBM, expand the use of HIT, and integrate financial incentives into benefit design. On the latter point, an evidence-based "VBID waiver"³² can be offered to ensure that interventions already identified through EBM as high value are available to enrollees with little or no out-of-pocket expense.

From a financial perspective, this hybrid CDHP/VBID strategy may cost more than a standard CDHP. In exchange, sponsors and payers would gain assurance that the added cost would likely leverage consumption of high-value interventions, which evidence suggests will improve health outcomes and save money in the long term.³²

Physician Payment Reform—P4P and Patient-Centered Medical Homes (PCMHs). P4P and PCMHs aim to increase preventive care, decrease overuse of services, and reward providers for meeting quality measures—all based on EBM. Integral to both platforms are the VBID precepts of aligning patient and provider incentives⁹ and giving patients ready access to essential services. PCMH and VBID have other features in common, including greater patient involvement and using HIT to support evidence-based clinical decisions.

CER. CER by definition compares interventions to determine what works best for patients with certain conditions, and therefore inherently supports appropriate use of medical services.³³ CER has real-world implications; improving the evidence base that informs medical decisions³³ promotes better decisions, thereby inducing use of interventions with high clinical value (hence better outcomes). Thus CER, by changing the "adopt everything for everyone" mentality to an "adopt when appropriate" paradigm, can promote efficiency, help reduce medical errors, and eliminate waste—and help curtail unnecessary spending.³³ For these reasons, federal policymakers pursuing healthcare reform have championed CER.³⁴

CER and VBID are perfectly aligned. CER can help target patient groups that benefit most from certain interventions. It is the keystone of EBM and evidence-based guidelines. CER can help to objectively assess both the clinical and financial effects of inventions, including worker productivity.³³

In sum, CER helps determine the right medical intervention for the right person at the right time³³—the very definition of value in healthcare. Thus, knowing what works best is a predicate to effective VBID.³³

VBID's compatibility with these key reform initiatives reflects the ascendency of value in healthcare. It also reflects the current trend toward integrated healthcare, which rejects the documented "silo" mentality of traditional healthcare³⁵ and emphasizes consumer responsibility for individual health.

Who Uses VBID?

VBID is used by a diverse and growing number of entities, public and private, including employers, health plans, and pharmacy benefit managers.⁹ A 2008 study determined that 20% to 30% of large employers use some form of VBID strategy.³⁶ In a 2008 survey of 500 large employers, each with more than 10,000 employees, 12% reported current valuebased initiatives, and 5% planned to introduce them.³⁷

Pitney Bowes is the most celebrated first mover in VBID. Its program provided copay relief for drugs to treat asthma and diabetes, and is considered an exemplar of how VBID is feasible, acceptable to employees, and produces clinical and economic returns.¹

Other notable VBID pioneers include Aetna Insurance; the city of Asheville, North Carolina; Marriott International; the state of Maine (pharmacy benefit manager: Well-Point Inc); United HealthCare (UHC); and the University of Michigan.

VBID Designs and Who Uses Them

There are 4 basic VBID formats^{2,24}:

1. Design by service. Copayment or coinsurance is

reduced or waived for select drugs or services for all enrollees.

This approach is used by Pitney Bowes and Marriott for drugs treating asthma, diabetes, and hypertension.

2. **Design by condition.** Copayment or coinsurance is reduced or waived for evidence-based interventions to treat patients diagnosed with specific conditions.

This approach was used by the University of Michigan for all employees with diabetes, who received reduced copayments for antidiabetics, insulin, beta-blockers, calcium channel blockers, antihypertensives, diuretics, antihyperlipidemics, and antidepressants.²¹ Asheville, North Carolina, and UHC also targeted diabetes.^{9,24}

- Design by condition severity. Copayment or coinsurance is reduced or waived for targeted high-risk members found eligible to participate in a DM program. WellPoint offers this format.³⁸
- 4. **Design by participation.** An extension of the third design approach, payment relief is offered to high-risk members who actively participate in a DM or similar incentive program.

Gulfstream offered reduced office visit copays to employees who use physicians that meet EBM guidelines.³⁷

Some entities have blended the basic formats, primarily relating to asthma, diabetes, and hypertension:

- Asheville, North Carolina. For employees with diabetes, lower copays were coupled with pharmacist-led coaching.²¹
- Healthcare Alliance Medical Plans, Inc (HAMP). Created a fourth copayment tier, making specific drugs available for a reduced copayment. HAMP anticipates expanding this tier to include drugs for multiple sclerosis, rheumatoid arthritis, and other diseases using compliance-based incentives.³⁷
- Service Employees International Union Health Care Access Trust (SEIU). Its VBID program couples copayment with participation in a DM program; SEIU absorbs office visit copayments for participating employees.³⁷

Evidence That VBID Works

Increasing evidence, both peer-reviewed and empirical, indicates not only that VBID *can* work, but *does* work.

Debate continues, however, over the quality of the evidence. Much of the available evidence, although compelling, is self-reported and anecdotal, derived from the popular press, or based on simulations. There are relatively few peer-reviewed, controlled studies to give the VBID movement definitive gravitas. This is partly because VBID is still somewhat new, and insufficient time has elapsed for robust results to accumulate,⁹ including data as to wheth-

Entity	Positive VBID Results
Caterpillar	VBID diabetes initiative: 50% reduction in employee disability days 50% of enrollees with reduced A1C levels over 1 year (8.7 to 7.2 on average)
IBM	Healthcare cost trend of 3% to 4%, compared with 12%+ average
Gulfstream	Healthcare cost increases held to 3.4% per year for 4 years
WellPoint	State of Maine diabetes initiative: Improved medication possession rate (77%-86%) Compared with control group, an adjusted average cost of \$1300 less per participating member over 1 year of follow-up
Healthcare Alliance Medical Plans, Inc	New fourth (value-based) copayment tier: Medication possession rates for diabetics and asthmatics increased 10.6% and 32.7%, respectively For diabetics, better blood sugar control For asthmatics, a move from rescue medications to control drugs Fewer episodes of heart attack, stroke, and kidney failure
City of Springfield, OR	 Diabetes program modeled after Asheville, NC, program. Study comparing control and intervention groups before and after copayment waived for both: At inception, mean A1C levels were 7.25% and 7.32%, respectively. After intervention group received counseling, A1C levels decreased 30% and 50%, respectively. With respect to patients with A1C level of ≤7% (target recommended by American Diabetes Association), the control group achieved similar target level (decreasing from 50% to 48% before and after program inception) but the intervention group rose from 46% to 63%, respectively. Because of this success, benefit became available to all enrollees with diabetes.
United HealthCare	Estimated its Diabetes Health Plan will yield savings of \$500 per member per year (26 million covered lives).

Table. Employers and Positive Results From VBID Initiatives

VBID indicates value-based insurance design.

er estimated savings/return on investment (ROI) will be realized.³⁷

Arguably, the debate is academic. Early VBID movers have reported notably positive results²⁷ and employers have reported saving money by lowering the cost of preventive care.³⁹ For example, Pitney Bowes' reduced copayments for asthma and diabetes medications translated into \$1 million in savings from decreased complications.³⁹ However, many question the general utility of the Pitney Bowes' results because no external control group was involved and predictive modeling was used.⁹ On the other hand, a 2008 analysis noted that value-based plans help channel the appropriate drug to the appropriate person—markers of value as noted above.⁴⁰

Goldman and colleagues'⁶ simulation relating to cholesterol-lowering therapy reported a marked inverse relationship between copayments and compliance, and concluded that notwithstanding obstacles in refining risk groups, varying copayments for cholesterol-lowering therapy by therapeutic need would reduce emergency department use and hospitalizations, representing more than \$1 billion annually in projected savings. The analysis also indicated that benefitbased copayment designs could improve aggregate health outcomes without raising health plan pharmacy payments.

A study of one large employer's VBID initiative reinforced Goldman et al's conclusions, reporting that compared with a control employer using the same DM program, medication compliance increased among VBID enrollees for 4 of 5 medication classes, and noncompliance reduced by 7% to 14%.⁴¹

Other positive results have been reported. Space limitations preclude a full recital, but the **Table** lists prominent examples.

The Business Case. As previously suggested, whether VBID "works" is actually a 2-part question, involving both clinical and financial impact. Although the available evidence makes a compelling case associating VBID with positive clinical results—and despite the above-cited potential for savings—no definitive proof exists that VBID will generate overall savings or ROI. After all, there is no single VBID intervention and therefore no routine answer—or even rule of thumb—regarding the bottom-line impact of VBID.⁹ This may partially explain why, despite overt interest from employer groups and health plans, uptake on VBID programs has been gradual.²⁴

VBID by definition contemplates these determinations. Rigorously measuring and evaluating clinical and economic results is essential for designing astute plans and employee health strategies,²⁸ and involves 4 main components: (1) measuring patient-reported clinical outcomes in addition to process measures, (2) using control groups to determine if observed clinical and economic changes are attributable to VBID design, (3) incorporating long-term follow-up to confirm clinical gains from high-value services,²⁴ and (4) measuring economic losses from absenteeism and presenteeism, and integrating them with clinical data to quantify the overall "burden of illness."⁴²

Currently, this mission is easier to identify than execute, for several reasons. First, VBID itself entails a new mindset: embracing value over cost. Second, traditionally, payers and employers have not assessed costs, value, or benefit design this comprehensively.³⁵ Third, measuring and quantifying value, and setting appropriate copayments, requires a blend of clinical judgment, health economics, and actuarial analysis,²⁴ and systemwide HIT and analytic tools of an amplitude not yet available. A 2007 analysis of employers confirmed these conclusions; of the more than 175 existing pharmacy benefit– related measures identified, only 4% focused on value.²⁴ This underscores why HIT/CER are core dependencies for VBID. VBID programs will be easier to create as CER reveals more about high-value services and HIT offers more robust data to gauge them.

Despite the difficulties in proving the business case, the available research does contain the following savings indicators (previously explained), all of which can increase the likelihood of positive ROI:

- Finely tuned targeting of patient subsets reduces VBID program costs²⁴
- Programs that increase cost-sharing for low-value services are likely to save money⁹ (this and other design changes can help offset VBID program costs)
- Better worker health saves money (this suggests the benefits of an effective communication strategy coupled with employee health initiatives³⁷).

The healthcare system is intricate and interconnected. Properly evaluating VBID results requires both a long-term horizon and a systemwide perspective. Several studies support this view and have shown that, particularly for chronic diseases, increased cost-sharing for prescription drugs is associated with spending increases in other sectors.³⁵

Conclusions

VBID is centered on value, not cost, and thus contemplates fundamental change, both cultural and systemic. For all its documented successes and recognized promise, VBID is in its infancy and is not a panacea for the current healthcare crisis^{1,4,9}—which is national, even global, in scope.

VBID is not firmly formulaic. It represents a set of cohesive, yet flexible, guiding principles²⁴ that if properly deployed can align healthcare silos and stakeholders on both sides of the cost/quality equation, and complement other healthcare reform strategies.^{9,21,24}

By focusing on value, VBID is not a cost-cutting system. However, the available research and documented experiences indicate that, as an overall approach, and in its fully evolved and widely adopted form, VBID will promote a healthier population and therefore support cost containment by yielding more health per dollar spent through improved adherence, better outcomes, reductions in services utilized, and increased worker productivity.²⁴ Therefore, VBID—despite the debate about ROI—offers the best available, comprehensive approach to efficiently deliver better healthcare per dollar. Moreover, even if VBID is supplanted by a bigger and better idea, VBID is on sound footing and can play a supporting role.⁹

Author Affiliations: From the Departments of Internal Medicine and Health Management & Policy, Center for Value-Based Insurance Design, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor (AMF), Department of Health Care Policy, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA (MC); Lines of Communication LLC, Medford, NJ, and Sherman Silverstein Kohl Rose & Podolsky, PA, Pennsauken, NJ (GWL).

Funding Source: Financial support for this work was provided by GlaxoSmithKline.

Author Disclosures: Dr Fendrick reports the following: Consultant/ Advisory Board Member: Abbott, AstraZeneca, Bayer, GlaxoSmithKline, Hewitt Associates, InHealth, MedImpact HealthCare Systems Inc, Merck, Novartis, Perrigo, Pfizer Inc, sanofi-aventis, ScreenCancer, Tethys Bio; Research Support: AstraZeneca, Pfizer Inc, sanofi-aventis; Speakers' Bureau: GlaxoSmithKline, Merck, sanofi-aventis. Dr Chernew reports the following: Consultant/Advisory Board Member: CMS, Hewitt Associates, sanofiaventis; Grant Pending: NIA; Grants Received: CMWF, National Institutes of Health/NIA, Robert Wood Johnson Foundation; Honoraria: AAMC, Altarum, AHIP, HSR. Mr. Levi reports no relationship or financial interest with any entity that would pose a conflict of interest with the subject matter of this article. The authors were responsible for the conduct of the research, analyses, and content of this manuscript.

Authorship Information: Concept and design (AMF, MC, GWL); acquisition of data (AMF, GWL); analysis and interpretation of data (AMF, MC, GWL); drafting of the manuscript (AMF, MC, GWL); and critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content (AMF).

Address correspondence to: A. Mark Fendrick, MD, Departments of Internal Medicine and Health Management & Policy, Center for Value-Based Insurance Design, University of Michigan, 300 North Ingalls Bldg, Rm 7E06, Ann Arbor, MI 48109-0429. E-mail: amfen@umich.edu.

REFERENCES

1. Fendrick AM, Chernew ME. Value-based insurance design: a "clinically sensitive" approach to preserve quality of care and contain costs. *Am J Manag Care.* 2006;12:18-20.

2. Fendrick AM, Chernew ME. Value-based insurance design: aligning incentives to bridge the divide between quality improvement and cost containment. *Am J Manag Care*. 2006;12:SP5-SP10.

3. Institute of Medicine. The Roundtable on Evidence-Based Medicine. *Learning Healthcare System Concepts v. 2008.* Annual Report, 2008.

4. Chernew ME, Newhouse JP. What does the RAND health insurance experiment tell us about the impact of patient cost-sharing on health outcomes? *Am J Manag Care.* 2008;14(4):412-414.

5. Gibson TB, Ozminkowski RJ, Goetzel RZ. The effects of prescription drug cost sharing: a review of the evidence. *Am J Manag Care.* 2005;11(11):730-740.

6. Goldman DP, Joyce GF, Karaca-Mandic P. Varying pharmacy benefits with clinical status: the case of cholesterol-lowering therapy. *Am J Manag Care.* 2006;12:21-28.

7. Trivedi AN, Rakowski W, Ayanian JZ. Effect of cost sharing on screening mammography in Medicare health plans. *N Engl J Med.* 2008;358(4):375-383.

8. Fendrick AM, Chernew ME. "Fiscally responsible, clinically sensitive" cost sharing: contain costs while preserving quality. *Am J Manag Care.* 2007;13(6):325-327.

9. Fendrick AM, Chernew ME. Value based insurance design: maintaining a focus on health in an era of cost containment. *Am J Manag Care.* 2009;15(6):338-339.

10. Mager DE, Cox ER. Relationship between generic and preferred brand prescription copayment differentials and generic fill rate. *Am J Manag Care.* 2007;13(pt 2):347-352.

11. Zeber JE, Grazier KL,Valenstein M, et al. Effect of a medication copayment increase in veterans with schizophrenia. *Am J Manag Care.* 2007;13(pt 2):335-346.

12. Huskamp HA, Deverka PA, Epstein AM, et al. The effect of incentive-based formularies on prescription drug utilization and spending. *N Engl J Med.* 2003;349(23):2224-2232.

13. Hsu J, Price M, Huang J, et al. Unintended consequences of caps on Medicare drug benefits. *N Engl J Med.* 2006;354(22): 2349-2359.

14. Chandra A, Gruber J, McKnight R. *Patient Cost-Sharing, Hospitalization Offsets, and the Design of Optimal Health Insurance for the Elderly.* Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research; 2007.

15. Impact of copays on vulnerable populations. *Am J Manag Care.* 2006;12(13):S359-S363.

16. Fendrick AM, Smith DG, Chernew ME, et al. A benefit-based copay for prescription drugs: patient contribution based on total benefits, not drug acquisition cost. *Am J Manag Care.* 2001;7:861-867.

17. Vitt L, Werntz R. Listening to consumers: values-focused health benefits and education. Employee Benefits Research Institute [EBRI]. Issue Brief No. 313, January 2008.

18. Teperi J, Porter ME, Vuorenkoski L, et al. The Finnish health care system: a value-based perspective. Sitra/Finnish Innovation Fund, Helsinki; 2009.

19. America's Affordable Health Choices Act of 2009. HR 3200, 111th Congress, 1st sess. (July 14, 2009), Section 224(c).

20. Seniors' Medication Copayment Reduction Act of 2009. S 1040, 111th Congress, 1st sess. (May 14, 2009).

21. Fendrick AM, Shapiro NL. A commentary on the potential of value-based insurance design (VBID) to contain costs and preserve quality. *J Manag Care Pharm.* 2008;14(6)(suppl S-d): S11-S15.

22. Fitch K, Iwasaki K, Pyenson B. Value-based insurance designs for diabetes drug therapy: actuarial and implementation considerations. Milliman Client Report. December 1, 2008;1-45.

23. American Academy of Actuaries. May 22, 2009 letter to The Honorable Max Baucus, Chairman/The Honorable Charles Grassley, Ranking Member, Senate Finance Committee. http:// www.actuary.org/pdf/health/expanding_may09.pdf. Accessed October 28, 2009. **24. Fendrick AM.** Value-based insurance design landscape digest. National Pharmaceutical Council. July 2009.

25. National Business Group on Health. Communication toolkit: using information to get high quality care, April 2009.

26. Nicholson S. The effect of cost sharing on employees with diabetes. Am J Manag Care. 2006;12:SP20-SP26.

27. Value-based insurance design. *Consumer Driven Healthcare.* 2007;6(8):97-108.

28. Loeppke R, Taitel M, Hayfke V, et al. Health and productivity as a business strategy: a multiemployer study. *J Occupat Environmental Med.* 2009:51(4):411-428.

29. American Diabetes Association. Direct and indirect costs of diabetes in the United States. http://www.diabetesarchive.net/ diabetes-statistics/cost-of-diabetes-in-us.jsp. Accessed October 30, 2009.

30. Parry T. Disease vs. Populations—The Impact of Chronic Conditions. IBI Research Insights. August 2008. Downloaded from www.IBIweb.org on October 30, 2009.

31. Center for Health Value Innovation. Value-based design in action: how five public sector employers are managing cost and improving health using value-based design. August 2009.

32. Fendrick AM, Chernew ME. Value-based insurance design: a clinically sensitive, fiscally responsible approach to mitigate the adverse clinical effects of high-deductible consumer-directed health plans. *J Gen Intern Med.* 2007;22(6):890-891.

33. Chernew M, Fendrick M. The business case for comparative effectiveness research. Appendix 7 in Learning What Works Best: The Nation's Need for Evidence on Comparative Effectiveness in Health Care. IOM Roundtable on Evidence-Based Medicine. Institute of Medicine, March 2007.

34. Improving health care quality through CER and VBID. National Pharmaceutical Council; Enewsletter May 2009. www. npcnow.org/ENewsletter/May2009/message_from_NPC.aspx. Accessed September 23, 2009.

35. Chernew M, Fendrick M. Clinically sensitive cost-sharing for prescription drugs: thinking beyond the silos. *Medical Care.* 2009;47(5):505-507.

36. Choudhry NK, Rosenthal MB, Milstein A. Innovative ideas around value-based insurance designs. Unpublished manuscript (November 11, 2008), cited in Fronstin P. Consumer engagement in health care: the use of lower cost sharing. EBRI.org Notes. 2009;30(5):2-8. http://www.ebri.org/pdf/notespdf/EBRI_Notes_05 May09.Cst-Shr-IncEld.pdf. Accessed October 5, 2009.

37. Value-Based Benefit Design: A Purchaser Guide. Washington, DC: National Business Coalition on Health; January 2009.

38. Drug Benefit News. Health insurers roll out value-based prescription drug plans, tap a growing demand, October 20, 2008. http://www.aishealth.com/DrugCosts/DBN_Insurer_Roll-Out_ Value-Based.html. Accessed October 30, 2009.

39. Fendrick AM. Value-based insurance design: returning health and wellness to the health care debate. Presentation sponsored by the Business Health Care Group (BHCG) and sanofi-aventis; June 29, 2009.

40. Mahoney JJ. Value-based benefit design: using a predictive modeling approach to improve compliance. *J Manag Care Pharm.* 2008;14(6 suppl S-b):S3-S8.

41. Chernew ME, Shah MR, Wegh A, et al. Impact of decreasing copayments on medication adherence within a disease management environment. *Health Aff.* 2008;27(1):103-112.

42. Abbott RK, Priddy SE. Health—the right answer: looking into the heart of value-based health benefits. Health & Productivity Management. Fall Conference, 2007:1-5.

Integrated Delivery Systems: The Cure for Fragmentation

Alain C. Enthoven, PhD

Introduction

Abstract

Our healthcare system is fragmented, with a misalignment of incentives, or lack of coordination, that spawns inefficient allocation of resources. Fragmentation adversely impacts quality, cost, and outcomes. Eliminating waste from unnecessary. unsafe care is crucial for improving quality and reducing costs-and making the system financially sustainable. Many believe this can be achieved through greater integration of healthcare delivery, more specifically via integrated delivery systems (IDSs). An IDS is an organized, coordinated, and collaborative network that links various healthcare providers to provide a coordinated, vertical continuum of services to a particular patient population or community. It is also accountable, both clinically and fiscally, for the clinical outcomes and health status of the population or community served, and has systems in place to manage and improve them. The marketplace already contains numerous styles and degrees of integration, ranging from Kaiser Permanente-style full integration, to more loosely organized individual practice associations, to public-private partnerships. Evidence suggests that IDSs can improve healthcare quality, improve outcomes, and reduce costs-especially for patients with complex needs-if properly implemented and coordinated. No single approach or public policy will fix the fragmented healthcare system, but IDSs represent an important step in the right direction.

(Am J Manag Care. 2009;15:S284-S290)

For author information and disclosures, see end of text.

It is no secret: our healthcare system is fragmented, suffering from what George Halvorson calls "clinical linkage deficiencies."¹ These systemic deficiencies, evidenced by conflicting incentives and lack of coordination, cost lives and fuel the unsustainable spiral of US healthcare expenditures.^{2,3}

For example, the Dartmouth Institute for Health Policy & Clinical Practice estimated that 30% to 40% of all hospitalizations are avoidable and that among regions, Medicare costs can vary 2- or 3-fold higher to treat similarly ill patients, without better outcomes.⁴ As late as 2005, preventable medical errors⁵ caused more deaths than breast cancer, automobile accidents, or drowning.⁶ In January 2009, an article in *The New England Journal of Medicine* stated that using a simple surgical checklist could reduce the death rate from surgery by half, decrease complications by more than a third, and save US hospitals about \$15 billion per year.⁷

Eliminating waste from unnecessary, unsafe care is crucial for improving quality and reducing costs—and making the system financially sustainable. Many believe this can be achieved through greater integration of healthcare delivery,^{38,9} more specifically via integrated delivery systems (IDSs). Without greater integration, some predict a systemic "meltdown."³ However, relatively few people, inside or outside healthcare, know about the benefits—or even the existence—of IDSs.¹⁰

The IDS concept is not new. It first appeared in the 1930s,^{8,11} and gained traction in the 1980s. In the 1990s, IDSs were confused with "managed care," created by insurance companies, usually with little or no integration of providers. Given the accelerating costs of US healthcare, the recent economic downturn, and the outcry for reform, interest in IDSs has been rekindled. Even President Obama talks about Mayo, Intermountain, Geisinger, and Kaiser Permanente—all prominent IDSs.

IDS Defined

Integrated healthcare can be better understood by considering the opposite.

What Does "Fragmented" Mean and How Did We Get Here? "Fragmentation" in healthcare delivery means the systemic misalignment of incentives, or lack of coordination, that spawns inefficient allocation of resources or harm to patients. Fragmentation adversely impacts quality, cost, and outcomes.¹²

This systemic fragmentation is difficult to dislodge. Fragmentation is steeped in the history and culture of medicine and is embedded populationwide in the current system—operationally, financially, and in the clinic.

Charles D. Weller called the current fragmented system "guild-free choice," suggesting that the traditional American model of medical care can be likened to guilds in medieval Europe.¹³⁻¹⁵ Organized medicine uses the term "free choice" fee-for-service (FFS); specifically, individuals should have freedom to choose physicians and hospitals anytime a la carte.¹⁶ They should not be allowed to choose an insurance plan that limits their choice of provider to those in an organized delivery system in exchange for what they judge to be superior value.

After World War II, health insurance became the province of employers. To give employees insurance without provoking the medical profession, employers and insurers followed the "free choice" FFS construct. For administrative simplicity, most employers adopted the single-carrier, singleplan design—a "one size fits all" approach.

The professional culture of medicine has contributed to fragmentation by revering physician autonomy and infallibility.^{14,15,17} Education and training emphasize individual rather than team performance; physicians tend to practice as individuals.¹⁸ Predictably, solo or small single-specialty group practices have dominated the landscape, with unfortunate fallout: wide variation in practices and costs and relatively low accountability—a dearth of guidelines, utilization and quality management, collaboration, and peer review.^{14,15}

Traditional guild-like control, coupled with insulation from accountability, has given physicians a de facto monopoly over major decisions, including admitting patients to the hospital and choosing interventions. As a result, physicians still control (directly or indirectly) most of personal health spending,¹⁹ notwithstanding extensive insurer-imposed limitations.

The accelerating advances and complexity of modern healthcare have driven greater specialization and a "silo approach" to healthcare consistent with the described isolationist history and professional culture.⁶ Yet, in recent years, increasingly prevalent chronic, often comorbid conditions (eg, diabetes, heart failure, depression) require that patients receive care from multiple providers in multiple settings. Although intensified specialization sought to generate greater interdependence among clinicians and the need for cross-silo coordination, greater specialization has exacerbated fragmentation by increasing the number of narrowly trained specialists.

Other observers assert that organized medicine has historically used its considerable clout to preserve the status quo, resisting efforts to systemically improve the quality and safety of medical care²⁰ and to form multispecialty group practices (MSGPs) or prepaid group practices (PGPs).²¹

Throughout this evolution, FFS has been the primary payment model.¹⁰ However, the FFS model contributes to fragmentation. Under FFS, physicians earn more by providing more services, thereby interposing an inherent disconnect between physicians' economic self-interest and the interests of their patients. In short, traditional FFS rewards production volume rather than value or outcomes.⁹

For patients, who simply want their doctors to help them stay healthy or get better, the fragmented system resembles, as George Bernard Shaw wrote in *The Doctor's Dilemma*, arrayed "conspiracies against the laity."²²

What Does "Integrated" Mean?

The opposite of a fragmented healthcare delivery system is a coordinated, integrated system—an IDS. The IDS model flows from the recognition that there is more to safe, appropriate, and affordable healthcare than the face-to-face encounter between doctor and patient: the care delivered is the output of a *system*. Therefore, healthcare reform must be based on redesigned *systems* of care.²

As for what constitutes an IDS, various definitions have emerged. Evashwick and Meadors produced a definition in 1994,²³ but lack of clarity remains about the meaning of the term—and the term itself. For example, IDSs are also called Integrated Health Services, Integrated Delivery Networks, and Integrated Health Care Delivery.

That said, a workable definition can be distilled from the research. An IDS is an organized, coordinated, and collaborative network that: (1) links various healthcare providers, via common ownership or contract, across 3 domains of integration—economic, noneconomic, and clinical²⁴—to provide a coordinated, vertical continuum of services to a particular patient population or community and (2) is accountable, both clinically and fiscally, for the clinical outcomes and health status of the population or community served, and has systems in place to manage and improve them.²⁵

The Successful IDS: Key Attributes and Principles in the Content of Competition Over Value for Money

Cultures, values, and leadership. High-performing, integrated healthcare begins with shared values and goals. All participants are committed to deliver high-quality, affordable care to patients.^{25,26} Committed executive leadership, and a coherent organizational structure, implant and consistently reinforce this mindset to maximize benefit to patients.^{12,25}

Physician leadership is equally essential.^{9,25} A successful IDS must win the loyalty, commitment, and responsible participation of physicians.

The IDS instills and reinforces a culture of safety and teamwork in the clinic among physicians, nurses, and technicians. Clinicians work collaboratively, in an atmosphere of mutual trust and respect, to continuously improve practice rules, processes, safety, and quality.^{14,27}

Although the team leader (usually a physician) has ultimate decision-making authority, all team members are accountable to each other, must review each others' work, and collaborate to deliver high-quality, high-value care. Activities are reported routinely and transparently.^{9,12,20,28}

Patient-centered and population health focus. Patients have multiple points of entry to appropriate care and information.^{9,25} Providers respect and respond to individual patient preferences, needs, and values—this includes cultural competence (ie, knowledge of the patient's language and culture as relevant to health)¹²—to inform all clinical decisions. Patients participate in those decisions.^{2,9,12,26} Resources and services are matched to the needs of, and are directed toward improving the overall somatic and mental health of, the population/ community served, including prevention initiatives.^{10,25}

Coordination. Care is coordinated and information shared across all settings and providers—inpatient, outpatient, physician's office, and home—to provide a seamless continuum of services. Care is delivered at the least invasive and most cost-effective appropriate setting. All or most of a patient's care remains within the system, enabling maximum efficiency and coordination.¹⁰ Transitions and handoffs between settings are explicitly and effectively managed to reduce costs by avoiding rehospitalizations and other complications.

Financial incentives. Financial incentives are aligned with the interests of consumers/patients for high-quality, affordable care among providers, ideally based on (1) a shared revenue stream mediated at the enterprise level, and (2) risk-adjusted, capitated payments to provider organizations.²⁵ A common revenue stream and capitated payments create incentives to avoid duplication and facilitate efficient deployment of resources.²⁵ Thus, an IDS manifests attuned consciousness of cost versus benefit, echoing the Institute of Medicine's call for continuous decreases in waste.²⁸

Evidence-based medicine. All providers employ the same current concepts of best practice and the same evidence-based practice guidelines to minimize quality shortfalls and variations in care.¹⁰ The IDS dedicates sufficient financial

and logistic resources to promote evidence-based medicine, including health information technology (HIT). $^{\rm 29}$

Comprehensive records. The IDS has, through its HIT, longitudinal records (electronic medical records [EMRs]/ electronic health records [EHRs]) that are accessible and shared by all providers and track the following: (1) each patient's path through the healthcare continuum, so that each provider treating the patient can access all relevant information at the point of care,¹² appropriate information accompanies all patient transfers,¹² (2) all patient encounters, aggregating data to enable systemwide evaluation, benchmarking, and improvement, and (3) status of health problems such as chronic conditions across a primary care physician's panel.

Ability to "right size" capacity. IDSs should (1) retain the needed number and types of physician specialties for the enrolled population; (2) have enough primary care physicians so that everyone has good access to a primary care physician, and few enough surgeons so that each one is fully busy, proficient, and able to make a good living at a low cost per case; and (3) adjust the facilities and equipment to the needs of the enrolled population.

Continuous innovation and learning to improve value. The IDS seeks new ways to improve quality, value, and patient experiences with healthcare delivery with an emphasis on primary care as the coordinating agent.^{9,12}

IDS Prevalence and Permutations

Forms of IDSs

Although the marketplace embraces multiple customized variations, the Commonwealth Fund has identified 4 basic integration models.¹²

Model 1: IDS or MSGP with a health plan—a single-entity delivery system (hospitals, physicians, and other providers) that includes a health plan. This model, which is both provider and payer, involves physicians in strategic planning. Other advantages include enhanced collection and integration of data, utilization review, and cost-control capacity. Duplication of services is greatly minimized.²⁵ Kaiser Permanente follows this model, but only serves members of its health plan. Geisinger Health System is similarly structured, but serves patients outside its health plans.¹⁰

Model 2: IDS or MSGP without a health plan—a singleentity delivery system without a health plan. Examples of this model include the Mayo Clinic and HealthCare Partners Medical Group.

Model 3: Private networks of independent providers—an organization composed of multiple independent providers that share and coordinate services. Similar to models 1 and 2, model 3 may include infrastructure services (eg, performance improvement and care management). The Hill Physicians Medical Group is an example of model 3. The Washington State Hospital Association has identified other integration formats that fit under model 3, including physician–hospital organizations, management service organizations, group practices without walls, individual practice asso-

ciations (IPAs), and California "delegated model" health maintenance organizations (HMOs).²⁵

Model 4: Government-facilitated networks of independent providers. In this model, government takes an active role in organizing independent providers, usually to create a delivery system for Medicaid beneficiaries. Community Care of North Carolina, a public–private partnership, is an example of this model.

IDS Reach

Although definitions vary and definitive statistics are elusive, there are more than 100 IDSs in operation in the United States.^{8,30,31} They are especially common in the West and upper Midwest.⁸ An estimated 40 million persons are enrolled in integrated care (**Table**).¹⁰

Other well-known IDS entities (with varying degrees and styles of integration) include large multispecialty group practices such as Dean Health System, Geisinger Health System, Harvard Pilgrim Health Care, Health Partners of Minnesota, Hill Physicians Medical Group, Marshfield Clinic, Mayo Clinic, Scott & White Healthcare (Texas), and the Veterans Administration. Group Healthcare Cooperatives (Puget Sound; Eau Claire, Wisconsin; South Central Wisconsin) are prepaid group practices.

Health Maintenance Organizations

Some HMOs are considered integrated because they deliver and finance comprehensive health services to a voluntary enrolled population for a fixed, prepaid fee. The HMO population can be divided into (1) "delivery system HMOs" based on IDSs, and (2) "carrier HMOs," whose chassis is an insurance company that mainly contracts with nonintegrated traditional providers. It has been a great disservice to confuse

■ Table. Integrated Delivery Systems and Enrollment in the United States¹⁰

Common Revenue Streams	Enrollment (millions)
Kaiser Permanente	8.6
Veterans Administration	7.9
Other prepaid group practices	1.5
Multiple Revenue Streams	
Intermountain Healthcare	1.0
"California Delegated" HMOs ^a	9.0
Other large multispecialty group practices	10.0

HMO indicates health maintenance organization.

a" California Delegated" HMOs are medical groups paid per capita for professional services by insurance companies. Although nominally classified as integrated, these HMOs have poor incentives alignment. Medical groups, hospitals, and insurance companies have conflicting objectives and interests.

the two. Paul Ellwood, who coined the term "HMO," was thinking of IDSs and regrets the political necessity that led to the inclusion of uncoordinated traditional providers. The carrier HMOs offered members HMO plan designs that left them unconscious of cost at the point of service. The carriers contracted with FFS doctors with incentives to do more services, whether or not they were necessary or beneficial to the patient. Also, insurance carriers put themselves in the middle as traffic cops—inevitably, a losing proposition.

Evidence That IDSs Work

Evidence suggests that integrated systems can improve healthcare quality, improve outcomes, and reduce costs especially for patients with complex needs—if properly implemented and coordinated.^{10,12}

Specific Examples

Health Insurance Experiment. In the landmark Health Insurance Experiment (HIE), RAND conducted a randomized controlled trial comparing "free-choice FFS" in Seattle to Group Healthcare Cooperative-Puget Sound, a fully integrated PGP. HIE determined that resource use, specifically relative value schedule units of physician visits and hospital stays, for the PGP group was 28% less than the FFS group, with the same outcomes.³²

Intermountain Healthcare. Intermountain's Clinical Integration program, which was designed to improve value systemwide, focused on integrating HIT, clinical and operations management, and incentives. Eleven clinical improvement projects yielded \$20 million in savings.¹²

Kaiser Permanente. Sir Richard Feachem and associates did a systematic comparison of the adjusted costs per patient

at Kaiser Permanente in California and the British National Health Service (NHS).³³ The results surprised and shook up the British. As the title of the article implied, Californians got more for their dollar. Kaiser in California was a little more expensive, but gave patients far more convenient access to more advanced medical technologies than are generally available in the NHS.

Medicare. A 2007 study reported that chronically ill Medicare patients in IDSs used significantly fewer resources in the last 24 months of life compared with the national average. Total physician and hospital spending for patients in organized systems were 24% and 2% less, respectively.³⁴

General Examples

Growing evidence, including peer-reviewed studies, reflects that greater organization and integration are associated with higher quality and efficiency, and that large group practices perform better than solo practitioners or small groups.^{9,35} For example, group practices have achieved better health outcomes, such as reduced mortality in heart attacks.¹² Physicians in large group practices are more than twice as likely to use organized care management processes as physicians in small groups or those not in a group.³⁶ IPAs are twice as likely to use effective care management processes as small groups with no IPA affiliation.¹²

Full integration is associated with even higher performance. Compared with IPAs, integrated medical groups in California achieve a higher level of clinical quality, and are more likely to use EMRs, follow quality improvement strategies, collect patient satisfaction data, and offer health promotion programs. HMOs with physician employees or those that partner with physicians tend to score higher on clinical measures than HMOs with independent physician networks.¹²

Finally, from an overall business perceptive, IDSs are potentially formidable economic units. Coordinated organizations functioning under a cohesive strategy can achieve economies of scale and make efficient use of both capital and operating resources, enabling them to meet the same level of demand with less capacity than stand-alone facilities. Larger scale also promotes increased productivity, lower staffing requirements, and reduced operating and unit costs that can be passed on to consumers.²⁵

Key Lessons on Integrated Delivery—How Do We Get There From Here?

Provider/Delivery Side

The above analysis and available research send multiple, yet discernible signals. The history and culture surrounding both the practice and profession of medicine created a "guild-free choice," silo mentality.⁹ This, coupled with how the business of healthcare has been conducted, has resulted in a fragmented, dysfunctional system saddled with misaligned incentives. It is now recognized that this scenario is outdated. Increasingly prevalent chronic, comorbid conditions and spiraling costs, coupled with poor outcomes, demonstrate the need to better coordinate healthcare—and transform US healthcare delivery systems into IDSs.

Research linking integration and teamwork with better results indicates that healthcare should be delivered by more formally organized, coordinated teams—physicians, nurses, and other healthcare professionals—through practice configurations that more closely resemble PGPs.^{9,35}

Current education and training, which often inadequately prepare physicians and other health professionals to practice in an IDS or as part of a team, should encourage systems thinking and shift emphasis from treating disease to preventing disease and promoting population health.^{9,12}

The transformation to IDSs requires an altered mindset for physicians and their educators, but cannot succeed without physician leadership and participation.⁹ Although the "guild-free choice" stance has recently softened, it remains the default setting.

Another key to successful integration is widespread adoption and deployment of interoperable HIT/EMR/EHR, including (1) access to all relevant information by providers at the point of care, (2) access by patients,¹² and (3) use of HIT, not just internally, locally, and regionally, but nationally to transparently report, measure, and improve performance.¹²

Payment reform is essential to better align financial incentives and reward high-quality, patient-centered care. This would entail broader consumer choice beyond the traditional FFS model and market-based competition among providers. Pay-for-performance would be part of the equation, as would patient cost-sharing^{9,12} in order to discourage overuse of unnecessary, low-value interventions³⁷ and motivate participation in prevention and disease management programs.

Employer/Consumer Side: Market-Free Choice Leans to IDS

Conceptually, the cure for fragmentation is simple and reprises Weller: "guild-free choice" yields to "market-free choice."¹³ But practical implementation can be complex, and appreciable obstacles remain. Following are some real-life, illuminating examples of employers offering employees several health plan options with employee cost responsibility.

Stanford University (Stanford) employees can choose from 5 health plans: 3 HMOs and 2 preferred provider organizations (PPOs). The PPOs are self-insured, uncoordinated FFS options. The HMOs include Kaiser Permanente and 2 "California Delegated" HMOs serviced mainly by the Palo Alto Medical Foundation (PAMF), a large MSGP with salaried doctors. For employees who choose the lowest-priced plan (usually Kaiser), Stanford pays 100% of individual coverage and 82% to 100% (depending on income) of dependent coverage. Employees who choose a higher-priced plan must pay the premium differences. (They can, however, shelter their contributions through "salary reduction" under Section 125 of the Internal Revenue Code, which dilutes the incentive to choose wisely.)

Reflecting the cost-conscious climate, about 80% of Stanford employees choose "delivery system HMOs" because per family per year, the HMOs cost less than FFS PPOs. Between the 2 HMO providers, market competition has yielded visible advances; both improved service and adopted HIT. Like Kaiser, PAMF has EMRs and secure physician-patient e-mail. On the other hand, because few employers offer employees a cost-conscious choice of plans, and because Medicare and the employer community have locked in cost-unconscious FFS, only attenuated price competition has occurred-and even that is being undermined by large-scale employer preferences for self-insurance and therefore FFS payment. Large medical groups have both HMO and PPO/FFS patients. If a preponderance of employers offer to pay FFS, the incentive for medical groups to reduce the cost of their HMO plans is attenuated, if not destroyed.

The scenario is similar at the University of California and with the state employees of California and Wisconsin. The employees of each have a range of choices, and the employer contributes fixed amounts. In Madison, Wisconsin, state employees have a large market share, the value for money competition is strong, and family annual premiums are thousands of dollars less than elsewhere in the state.

These examples make a notable point. In this era of rising concerns over costs, people who were given a range of alternatives that included FFS and IDS, and could decide what is the best value for their money, overwhelmingly chose IDSs.^{38,39} This supports the long-held belief that the key to US health-care reform is "open the markets and level the playing field."

Political and Practical Obstacles to IDS

Despite the documented success of and progress toward IDSs, formidable practical and political obstacles constrict more universal adoption. For example, large employers generally resist offering employees more plan choices. Even if offered, employers tend to contribute more toward costlier models (ie, large employers pay 80%-100% of the premium of the plan of the employee's choice). If one plan costs more than another, these employers pay 80% to 100% of the differ-

ence, thus destroying any marketplace reward to the less costly plan for being less expensive. For emphasis, let me reiterate, these employers destroy the incentives of delivery systems to be less costly.

Some consumers value the right to obtain the services from any doctor, anywhere, in case the "best doctor" for their condition is not in an IDS. Their preferences, of course, should be respected, but they should be expected to pay out of pocket for any extra costs associated with their choice.

Small employers generally believe that offering more choices is too costly or impractical, although some manage to do so.

Insurance companies oppose "sliced business"—that is, offering side-by-side choices. They want to be the sole source of health insurance, indeed the "single payer" for each employment group. The insurance industry thus opposes creating exchanges to cover employee groups. They do not want that kind of competition.

Labor and management oppose capping the open-ended exclusion of employer contributions, and even employee contributions, from the taxable incomes of employees, which is necessary to give consumer incentives for cost-conscious choice.

Device manufacturers and providers generally prefer the fragmented traditional system because their customers are cost-unconscious. Thus, they oppose public policies that would lead to the proliferation of competing IDSs.

These large components of the medical industrial complex spend enormous amounts of money employing lobbyists and supporting or attacking congressional candidates who do or do not support the policies they prefer.

Conclusion

The vastness and complexity of healthcare in the United States, accompanied by regional differences, indicate that no single approach or public policy will fix the fragmented healthcare system.¹² Even if that were so, the marketplace already contains numerous styles and degrees of integration, ranging from Kaiser Permanente–style full integration, to more loosely organized IPAs, to public–private partnerships. Moreover, notwithstanding the potential role for government in promoting IDS, many in the healthcare realm will resist universal change imposed by government fiat.

In response to these genuine concerns, the available evidence provides 2 valuable lessons. First, for the extent to which positive IDS hallmarks (as described above) are met, each IDS configuration and approach can yield more efficient, highervalue performance, thereby reducing waste, improving quality, and lowering costs.^{9,12} Second, substantial positive change can

be achieved through private, value-based, market competition—as ever, the catalyst for American innovation. Such innovation is needed to cure the present fragmentation.⁹

Acknowledgments

The author gratefully acknowledges Gary W. Levi, JD, for his extensive assistance in the preparation of this article, and Nancy Taylor and Laura Tollen for reviewing drafts and making valuable criticisms and suggestions.

Author Affiliations: From the Graduate School of Business, Stanford University, Stanford, CA.

Funding Source: Financial support for this work was provided by GlaxoSmithKline.

Author Disclosure: The author reports paid consultancy to Kaiser Permanente Institute for Health Policy.

Authorship Information: Concept and design; analysis and interpretation of data; and critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content.

Address correspondence to: Alain C. Enthoven, Graduate School of Business, Stanford University, 518 Memorial Way, Stanford, CA 94305-5015. E-mail: enthoven_alain@GSB.Stanford.Edu.

REFERENCES

1. Halvorson GC. Health Care Reform Now!: A Prescription for Change. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass; 2007.

 Institute of Medicine of the National Academy of Sciences. Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century. Washington, DC: National Academy Press; 2001.
 Health Industry Forum. Healthcare Payment Reform: Creating

Conditions for More Efficient Health Delivery. Policy Brief, April 10, 2008. http://healthforum.brandeis.edu/meetings/materials/ 2008%20-%2010%20-%20April/Payment%20Brief%204-10-08_ final.pdf. Accessed October 12, 2009.

4. Associated Press. Better care, pay less: some communities find a way. September 7, 2009. http://abcnews.go.com/Health/WireStory?id=8508105&page=2. Accessed November 8, 2009.
5. Hoyert DL, Kung HC, Smith BL. Deaths: preliminary data for 2003. National Vital Statistics Reports. 2005;53(15).

6. Mann S, Marcus R, Sachs B. Lessons from the cockpit: how team training can reduce errors on L&D. *Contemporary OB/GYN.* January 1, 2006. http://contemporaryobgyn.modernmedicine. com/obgyn/content/printContentPopup.jsp?id=28348. Accessed October 21, 2009.

7. Haynes AB, Weiser TG, Berry WR, et al. A surgical safety checklist to reduce morbidity and mortality in a global population. *N Engl J Med.* 2009;360:491-499.

8. Crosson FJ. 21st-century health care—the case for integrated delivery systems. *N Engl J Med.* 2009;361(14):1324-1325.

9. Intermountain Healthcare, Kaiser Permanente, and Mayo Clinic. Delivery System Reform: Action Steps and Pay-for-Value Approaches. November 4, 2008.

10. Enthoven AC. Curing fragmentation with integrated delivery systems: what they do, what has blocked them, why we need them, and how to get there from here. Presentation at the Harvard Law School Conference: "Our Fragmented Health Care System: Causes and Solutions." June 13-14, 2008.

11. Falk IS, Rorem CR, Ring MD. The Costs of Medical Care: A Summary of Investigations on the Economic Aspects of the Prevention and Care of Illness. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press; 1933:515-593.

12. Shih A, Davis K, Schoenbaum S, Gauthier A, et al. Organizing the U.S. Health Care Delivery System for High Performance. The Commission on a High Performance Health System. Commonwealth Fund, August 2008.

13. Weller CD. "Free choice" as a restraint of trade in American health care delivery and insurance. *Iowa Law Review.* 1984;69(5):1351-1392.

14. Stevens R. American Medicine and the Public Interest. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press; 1972.

15. Starr P. The Social Transformation of American Medicine: The Rise of a Sovereign Profession and the Making of a Vast Industry. New York, NY: Perseus Books Group; 1982.

16. AMA Code of Medical Ethics. Opinion 9.06. "Free Choice."
17. Mechanic D. The Truth About Health Care: Why Reform Is Not Working in America. New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers University Press; 2006.

18. Powell SM, Hill RK. My copilot is a nurse—using crew resource management in the OR. *AORN J.* 2006;83(1):178-204.

19. Sager A, Socolar D. *Health Costs Absorb One-Quarter of Economic Growth, 2000-2005.* Boston, MA: Boston University School of Public Health; 2005.

20. Singer S, Tucker A. Creating a culture of safety in hospitals. AcademyHealth: Annual Research Meeting 2005. Boston, MA: June 26-28, 2005. Abstract 4197.

21. Goldberg LG, Greenberg W. The emergence of physiciansponsored health insurance: a historical perspective. Greenberg W, ed. *Competition in the Health Care Sector, Past, Present, and Future.* Germantown, MD: Aspen Systems Corporation; 1978.

22. George Bernard Shaw. The Doctor's Dilemma. 1911, Act 1.
23. Evashwick C, Meadors A. Defining integrated delivery systems. AHSR FHSR Annu Meet Abstr Book. 1994;11:31-32.

24. Burns LR, Muller RW. Hospital-physician collaboration: landscape of economic integration and impact on clinical integration. *Milbank Q.* 2008;86(3):375-434.

25. Washington State Hospital Association. Governing Board Orientation Manual. 2006;3-4. http://www.wsha.org/files/62/Gov_ Bd_Manual_INTEGRATED.doc. Accessed October 12, 2009.

26. Dearing JW. Abstract PS1-11: patient-centered communication research in integrated delivery systems. *Clin Med Res.* 2008;6(3-4):132.

27. Helmreich RL. Culture, threat, and error: lessons from aviation. *Canadian J Anesthesia.* 2004;51:R1-R4.

28. Joint Commission. *Health Care at the Crossroads: Strategies for Improving the Medical Liability System and Preventing Patient Injury.* Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations; 2005.

29. Enthoven AC, Tollen LA. Competition in health care: it takes systems to pursue quality and efficiency. *Health Affairs*. Web Exclusive. 2005;W5:420-433.

30. Wan TT, Lin BY, Ma A. Integration mechanisms and hospital efficiency in integrated health care delivery systems. *J Med Syst.* 2002;26(2):127-143.

31. Knowledge Source On-Line. Integrated Healthcare Networks Market Overview. June 22, 2009.

32. Newhouse JP; Insurance Experiment Group. *Free for All? Lessons from the RAND Health Insurance Experiment.* Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press; 1993.

33. Feachem RG, Sekhri NK, White KL. Getting more for their dollar: a comparison of the NHS with California's Kaiser Permanente. *BMJ.* 2002;324(7330):135-141.

34. Tollen L. Physician Organization In Relation To Quality And Efficiency Of Care: A Synthesis Of Recent Literature. Commonwealth Fund. April 2008.

35. Grumbach K, Bodenheimer T. Can health care teams improve primary care practice? *JAMA*. 2004;291(10):1246-1251.

36. Shortell S, Schmittdiel J. Prepaid groups and organized delivery systems: promise, performance, and potential. *Toward a 21st Century Health System: The Contributions and Promise of Prepaid Group Practice.* Enthoven AC, Tollen LA, eds. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass; 2004.

37. Chernew ME, Newhouse JP. What does the RAND health insurance experiment tell us about the impact of patient cost sharing on health outcomes? *Am J Manag Care.* 2008;14(4):412-414.

38. Enthoven AC. Open the markets and level the playing field. *Toward a 21st Century Health System: The Contributions and Promise of Prepaid Group Practice.* Enthoven AC, Tollen LA, eds. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass; 2004:227-245.

39. Enthoven AC. Market forces and efficient health care systems. *Health Affairs.* 2004;23(2):25-27.

A Guide to the Medical Home as a Practice-Level Intervention

Mark W. Friedberg, MD, MPP; Deborah J. Lai, BA; Peter S. Hussey, PhD; and Eric C. Schneider, MD, MSc

Overview

The medical home (also known as patient-centered medical home or advanced medical home) is a composite policy construct applied to interventions intended to revitalize primary care practices and improve patient care. It is hoped that these interventions will increase the appeal of primary care as a medical career and improve healthcare quality, patient experience, provider worklife satisfaction, and costs of care. This article is intended as a guide for policymakers, healthcare purchasers, and physicians who are thinking about facilitating, paying for, or engaging in medical home interventions.

The phrase "medical home" has multiple definitions, and each definition contains many components. There can be confusion over what is meant when somebody proposes participation in (or reports having engaged in) a medical home intervention. To facilitate comparisons between medical home definitions, we classify their components into resource inputs, specified processes, and desired outcomes. We then apply a parallel classification system to the descriptions of medical home interventions that have already reported results. This review summarizes the findings and discusses their implications for future work.

Definitions of the Medical Home

The term *medical home* originated in a 1967 proposal from the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) intended to establish centralized, accessible medical records for medically complex, chronically ill children.¹ Since then, physician professional societies have expanded the definition of the medical home to include a broader array of practice capabilities and elements of the Chronic Care Model, culminating in the 2007 Joint Principles of the Patient-Centered Medical Home issued by the American Academy of Family Physicians (AAFP), AAP, American College of Physicians, and American Osteopathic Association.^{2,3} As an idealized vision of primary care, the medical home is supported by stakeholders including employers, health professional societies, health plans, not-for-profit entities, and government agencies.⁴

Despite wide acceptance, the Joint Principles have not easily translated into concrete actions. Some principles describe processes to be undertaken by physician practices, but others describe new goals for a patient's total healthcare experience (ie, goals compatible with an idealized vision of primary care). The Joint Principles do not provide

Abstract

The medical home (also known as patient-centered medical home or advanced medical home) is a composite policy construct representing a set of interventions intended to revitalize primary care practices and improve patient care. As an idealized vision, the medical home has gained the support of stakeholders including employers, health professional societies, health plans, not-for-profit entities, and government agencies. Expectations of the medical home include improvements in healthcare quality, patient experience, provider worklife satisfaction, costs of care, and increased recruitment of medical students into primary care careers. However, multiple definitions of the medical home exist, and the degree to which some often-cited examples of "medical home" successes match these definitions is unclear. Scant evidence currently supports the effectiveness of practice-level medical home interventions for improving quality and reducing costs, but demonstration projects are only recently under way. Carefully specifying the exact components of "medical home" interventions-and interpreting their results in the context of these specifications-will help build a coherent body of evidence to guide the revitalization of primary care.

(Am J Manag Care. 2009;15:S291-S299)

For author information and disclosures, see end of text.

Desired Outcomes in the Joint Principles	Processes Included in the Joint Principles	Selected Processes Included in Operational Definitions ^a
First contact, continuous, comprehensive care	Not specified	Scheduling procedures to maximize continuity with personal physician Written agreement between practice and patients ^b
Care that is coordinated across the healthcare system and community	Patient population registries Information technology Health information exchange	Medication reconciliation Referral tracking Care management by nonphysician staff Facilitate information transfer
Culturally, linguistically appropriate care	Not specified	Identify communication issues Provide language services
Safe, high-quality, evidence-based care	Practice advocates for patients Patient participation in decision making Clinical decision-support tools Information technology Performance measurement Quality improvement activities Participation in a recognition program that certifies practice capabilities	Patient self-management support Electronic health record with clinical data, prescribing, and decision support Condition-specific registries Physician and patient reminders for preventive services Test tracking and follow-up Identify common diagnoses and risk factors in the practice Performance measurement on quality and patient experience Quality improvement activities
Enhanced access	Open scheduling Expanded hours Secure e-mail and telephone consultation	Offer same-day appointments Offer 24-hour communication options Interactive Web site
Not specified	Use of a care team led by a personal physician	Use of structured templates for office notes Many written policies

Table 1. Major Medical Home Definitions: Specified Processes Corresponding to Each Desired Outcome^a

^aOperational definitions contributing care processes are from the National Committee for Quality Assurance, the planned Medicare Medical Home demonstration, and TransforMed. Selected processes are those common to 2 or more of these definitions. ^bMedicare demonstration only.

Sources: References 3, 5-7, and 9.

a complete action path for primary care practices seeking to reach these idealized goals. Instead, many practices and demonstration projects rely on an operational definition developed by the National Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA): the Physician Practice Connections–Patient-Centered Medical Home (PPC-PCMH).⁵ The NCQA provides certification that individual primary care practices possess specific structural capabilities and partake in certain processes, and offers 3 levels of medical home recognition. In some medical home demonstrations, this certification process is used to determine whether participating practices qualify for enhanced payments. A variant of this NCQA definition was devised for use in the planned Medicare medical home demonstration authorized by the Tax Relief and Health Care Act of 2006.^{6,7}

Another operational definition was developed by TransforMed, an AAFP subsidiary originally intended to facilitate the practice transformations envisioned in the AAFP's 2004 report "The Future of Family Medicine."⁸ With the advent of the medical home, TransforMed's mission evolved to include a prominent National Demonstration Project that uses its own medical home definition.⁹ Similar to the NCQA definitions, TransforMed's definition applies to individual primary care practices.

Components of the Medical Home

Each medical home definition comprises a set of specific components for primary care practices. The elements of these definitions fall into 3 fundamental categories: desired outcomes (ie, characteristics of care received by patients), specified processes for primary care practices to follow, and resource inputs to support these processes.

Desired outcomes. Desired outcomes expressed in the Joint Principles include first contact, continuous, comprehensive

	Table 2.	Major	Medical	Home	Definitions:	Resource	Inputs
--	----------	-------	---------	------	--------------	----------	--------

Resource Inputs	Joint Principles	PPC-PCMH ^a	Medicare Demonstration	TransforMed
Additional payment				
Per-patient per-month payment	X		x	
Payment for use of HIT	x		x	
Practices share in savings generated by medical home activities	x		x	
Payment for improvement on quality measures	x			
In-kind investments				
Technical support to facilitate practice transformation			x	x

HIT indicates health information technology; PPC-PCMH, Physician-Practice Connections–Patient-Centered Medical Home.

^aBy design, the PPC-PCMH definition excludes consideration of resource inputs.

Sources: References 3, 5-7, and 9.

care; care that is coordinated across the healthcare system and community; culturally and linguistically appropriate care; safe, high-quality, evidence-based care; and enhanced access (**Table 1**). Although not mentioned in the Joint Principles, medical homes are expected to reduce costs of care, improve provider worklife satisfaction, and draw more medical students into primary care.¹⁰ Better cost control can result from processes such as enhanced access (eg, so that patients can substitute away from high-cost care in emergency departments) and care management.^{11,12} Increased payments to medical homes may result in higher take-home incomes for primary care physicians, or not.¹³ Higher incomes, coupled with improved professional satisfaction, may increase the number of medical students choosing primary care careers.¹⁴

Specified processes. The processes of care specified in the major medical home definitions can be classified into categories corresponding to the desired outcomes expressed in the Joint Principles (Table 1). The Joint Principles do not specify which processes would enable practices to achieve first contact, continuous, and comprehensive care. To produce these outcomes, the PPC-PCMH and TransforMed definitions have focused on improving continuity through new appointment scheduling procedures. Recognizing the importance of mutually understood responsibility, the Medicare demonstration would require written agreements between patients and medical homes that delineate the expectations of each party.⁷

Coordinated care can be achieved through processes such as care management by nonphysician staff and the use of information technology. A variety of specified processes are intended to achieve safe, high-quality care: advanced electronic health records, test tracking, and targeted quality improvement activities. The processes intended to achieve enhanced access include "open scheduling" (to allow sameday appointments), expanded office hours, and enhanced telephone and electronic communications.

Some specified processes are not clearly tied to any particular desired outcome. The Joint Principles call for the use of a physician-led care team, and other definitions encourage structured templates for office notes and written policies for practice governance.⁵

Resource inputs. To support investment in medical home processes, payers and demonstration collaboratives provide resource inputs to participating practices. These resources take the form of additional payment (included in both the Joint Principles and planned Medicare demonstration), inkind investments (not included in any major definition), and technical support for practice transformation (included in the Medicare and TransforMed definitions) (**Table 2**). Of note, the PPC-PCMH definition—primarily intended as a practice certification tool—does not specify any resource inputs to primary care practices. These inputs are left to the payers and demonstration collaboratives that will facilitate each medical home intervention.

Will Medical Home Interventions Produce the Desired Outcomes?

Each medical home intervention consists of a combination of resource inputs and specified processes applied in a particular practice setting. Numerous studies of individual inputs and processes of the medical home have been published, and many of these individual components—

Intervention	Group Health Cooperative (GHC)	TransforMed	Geisinger ProvenHealth Navigator
Practice setting	One practice of an integrated insurer/multispecialty group	36 Volunteering family practices in 24 states	Predominantly practices in an integrated insurer/multispecialty group
Resource inputs			
Additional payment	Physician salaries were exempted from RVU-based adjustments. Without this exemption, physician salaries would have been lower as daily visit counts were reduced.	None	Monthly payments to practices: \$1800/physician, \$5/Medicare beneficiary Pay-for-performance on quality measures Practices share in savings
In-kind investments	Additional physicians Mean panel size reduction from 2327 to 1800; 50% reduction in per-physician daily visit count New practice nonphysician staff	None	Nurse care managers employed by Geisinger Health Plan and embedded in primary care practices Electronic health record provided to practices
Technical support	Not specified	All practices given access to a practice improvement Web site 18 Practices received on-site technical assistance	Not specified
Specified processes	Selected processes: Systematic follow-up of emergency visits and hospital discharges Patient self-management workshops Standard office visit lengthened from 20 to 30 minutes Team-based care, team huddles Scheduled "desktop medicine" time E-mail and telephone visits Group visits Real-time specialist consulta- tions via electronic health record Electronic health risk assessment	Selected processes: Engage in change management; become a learning organization Leadership development Same-day appointments Group visits Patient engagement and education Coordination arrangements with other providers Care transition management Quality improvement activities Team-based care Use of electronic health record with registries, e-prescribing, patient portal	Selected processes: 24-Hour access to case management Transition management Hospital discharge follow-up calls Patient and family education Analysis of readmissions Home-based telemonitoring Use of electronic health record templates and electronic decision support

■ Table 3. Components of "Medical Home" Interventions With Published Results

PMPM indicates per member per month; RVU, relative value unit. *Sources:* References 18-25.

especially those included in the Chronic Care Model have been associated with favorable effects on clinical outcomes, clinical processes, and quality of life.^{15,16} The use of health information technology, studied primarily in a few large academic institutions, was also associated with favorable effects on quality of care.¹⁷ These studies of individual inputs and processes have helped guide the creation of medical home definitions, but they may not accurately predict the effects of more complex medical home interventions. From the perspective of stakeholders considering a medical home intervention, the best guidance is likely to come from published evaluations of practice transformations that include multiple medical home components. These evaluations measure the overall effects of medical home interventions, net of any synergistic or antagonistic interactions among their components. In reviewing the results of published medical home evaluations, there are 3 main questions to ask. First, what were the intervention components (ie, what were the resource inputs and specified processes, and

Intermountain Healthcare Care Management Plus	Geriatric Care Resources for the Assessment and Care of Elders (GRACE)	Community Care of North Carolina (CCNC)
7 Primary care clinics within a large integrated delivery system	6 Community-based health centers within a larger university-affiliated medical group	14 Regional networks of ~1200 primary care practices, hospitals, and local community partners
None	None	Enhanced case management fees: \$2.50 PMPM to practices and \$3 PMPM to networks
Nurse care managers employed by the study were placed within intervention clinics Specialized information technology tools	 3 GRACE support teams (an advanced practice nurse and a social worker) employed by the larger medical group; each support team assigned to specific physicians Only some physicians within a clinic were randomized to receive these inputs 	Networks employ case managers for selected enrollees
Not specified	Not specified	Networks provide technical assistance to practices
Physicians referred medically complex patients to nurse care managers Nurse care managers completed patient assessments and performed case management using electronic protocols, guidelines, and a care management tracking database	Selected processes: GRACE support teams assess patients GRACE interdisciplinary team develops care management plans Primary care physicians approve care plans GRACE support teams implement care plans with electronic health record support	Selected processes: Network clinical directors disseminate quality improvement initiatives Networks do rapid-cycle quality improve- ment, share best practices Each enrollee designates one practice as "medical home" Pharmacy management Disease management for certain chronic conditions

how completely did the intervention components match the major medical home definitions)? Second, what outcomes did the intervention produce? Third, what is the strength of the evidence, and how well do the findings generalize?

Components of Reported Medical Home Interventions: Settings, Inputs, and Processes

A small number of medical home interventions have already reported results: the Group Health Cooperative (GHC), TransforMed, Geisinger Health System's ProvenHealth Navigator, Intermountain Healthcare Care Management Plus, Geriatric Care Resources for the Assessment and Care of Elders (GRACE), and Community Care of North Carolina (CCNC) (**Table 3**).¹⁸⁻²⁰ These interventions began before the March 2007 publication of the Joint Principles of the Patient-Centered Medical Home as well as the major operational definitions of the medical home. In a sense, these interventions have been rebranded as medical home interventions, and vary in the extent to which they match the major medical home definitions.

Intervention	Group Health Cooperative (GHC)	TransforMed	Geisinger ProvenHealth Navigator
Outcomes	At 12-month comparison to control practices: Improvements in patient experi- ence ratings, performance on global quality measure composite, and staff burnout ratings No significant differences in overall costs	Initial qualitative lessons: Practice transformation is a whole-practice endeavor Electronic health record adoption is difficult Personal transformation of physicians is required Change fatigue is a problem Transformation pathways vary among practices	Preliminary results from 2 pilot practices:All-cause hospital admission rate decreased by 20%Increased medication adherence, generic useIncreased compliance with evidence- based care7% Overall cost savingsPreliminary results from 11 expansion practices:Decreased hospital readmission rate 4% Overall cost savings
Strength of evidence	Peer-reviewed publication Complete description of intervention and evaluation methodology	Peer-reviewed publication Results are preliminary	Not peer-reviewed Results are preliminary Methodology incompletely described
Generalizability	Atypical practice setting Single intervention practice	Settings typical of most primary care practices	Atypical practice setting
Sources: References 21-23	3, 26, and 28-30.		

Table 4.	Published	Results	of "Medical	Home"	Interventions

Practice settings. Among these 6 interventions, 3 (GHC, Geisinger, and Intermountain) occurred in practices that were part of large, integrated delivery systems (Table 3).²¹⁻²³ The GRACE and CCNC interventions both involved levels of provider organization beyond the primary care practice.^{24,25} Only TransforMed's intervention took place within independent primary care practices.⁹

Resource inputs. Three of the interventions (GHC, Geisinger, and CCNC) provided additional payment to participating practices, with Geisinger being the most generous.²² Two of the interventions provided technical support to participating practices (TransforMed and CCNC). Excepting TransforMed, all interventions provided in-kind investments, most commonly in the form of additional staff to perform case management.

Specified processes. The 6 medical home interventions have also varied in the extent to which their specified processes have matched the medical home definitions. By default, the processes of the TransforMed intervention constitute a perfect match to a major medical home definition. However, TransforMed's preliminary qualitative findings suggest that performing the specified processes (eg, adopting electronic health records) has been difficult, and practices have exhibited change fatigue.²⁶ The number of practices

able to successfully perform TransforMed's processes has not yet been published.

The GHC and Geisinger interventions each included multiple processes of the medical home, particularly those related to care management, patient self-management support, and use of electronic health records. As with TransforMed, GHC practices reported difficulties in changing the work processes of professional staff.²⁷ The Intermountain, GRACE, and CCNC interventions, however, involved fewer specified processes of the major medical home definitions. The Intermountain and GRACE interventions included care management processes that were provided by the same care managers who constituted the practice inputs. Each Medicaid enrollee in CCNC was required to designate one practice as a "medical home." However, most processes of the CCNC intervention were performed by network staff; CCNC has not expected redesign of its participating practices.²⁵

Have the Desired Outcomes Been Achieved in Demonstration Projects?

The GHC's intervention is the only "medical home" intervention that includes a wide variety of medical home components and has produced a peer-reviewed evaluation. At 12 months, the GHC intervention reported improvements in multiple domains of patient experience (including coordination of care and access) and a global composite measure of

Intermountain Healthcare Care Management Plus	Geriatric Care Resources for the Assessment and Care of Elders (GRACE)	Community Care of North Carolina (CCNC)
Compared with matched controls: Trend toward lower all-cause mortality at 2 years (16.6% among controls vs 13.1% with intervention; P = .07) More emergency department visits	Compared with usual care: Improved health-related quality of life Lower 2-year rates of emergency department use (1785 visits per 1000 patients receiving usual care vs 1445 with intervention; P = .03) Lower hospital admission rates (in a predefined subgroup of patients most likely to be hospitalized)	<i>Mercer Consulting reports:</i> Estimated savings of up to \$240 million in 2005 and \$314 million in 2006, compared with fee-for- service Medicaid enrollees
Peer-reviewed publication	Peer-reviewed publication Randomized at physician level	Not peer-reviewed Incomplete description of methodology for calculating savings
Atypical practice setting	Not a practice-level intervention	Not a practice-level intervention

technical quality of care (**Table 4**).²¹ There was no detectable effect on overall healthcare costs. However, with only one intervention practice and an integrated insurer/multispecialty group (with salaried physicians at baseline) as the intervention setting, the generalizability of these findings to independent primary care practices may be limited.

As noted earlier, TransforMed released preliminary qualitative results,²⁶ but full evaluation results have yet to be published. Preliminary results from the first 2 pilot practices in Geisinger's medical home intervention included a 20% drop in hospital admissions, improvements in guideline adherence, and a 7% reduction in overall costs of care.^{22,28} The Geisinger medical home intervention was subsequently extended to another 21 Geisinger-owned practices and 4 independent practices, and preliminary results from a subset of these expansion practices include a 4% reduction in costs of care.²⁸ The methodology underlying these cost estimates has not been completely described, nor have these estimates been presented in a peer-reviewed scientific publication. As with the GHC evaluation, the generalizability of Geisinger's findings to independent primary care practices may be limited.

Compared with matched controls, medically complex patients in Intermountain Healthcare's Care Management Plus intervention practices exhibited a trend toward lower 2-year all-cause mortality (16.6% among controls vs 13.1% in the intervention, P = .07).²³ Compared with patients receiving usual care, elderly indigent patients receiving the GRACE intervention reported higher health-related quality of life and had lower 2-year rates of emergency department use (1748 vs 1445 visits per 1000 patients; P = .03).²⁹ CCNC's outcomes have included hundreds of millions of dollars in estimated annual savings to North Carolina's Medicaid program.³⁰ Neither the Intermountain, GRACE, nor CCNC interventions closely matched the medical home definitions, so their generalization to proposed medical home interventions bears scrutiny. In addition, the methodology used to estimate the savings attributed to CCNC has not been completely described in publicly available materials, and these estimates, which have some skepticism,³¹ have not been presented in a peer-reviewed scientific publication.

Summary State of the Evidence

Currently, there is limited evidence that the medical home, as a multifaceted practice-level intervention, will produce the results expected by its stakeholders. Comparing Table 1 to 3 demonstrates that some interventions cited in support of the medical home bear little resemblance to the major practice-level medical home definitions—particularly in the degree of practice transformation required. Other interventions occurred in unusual organizational settings, and some prominent results have not been peer-reviewed.

To take advantage of current political opportunities, policy-level decisions about transforming primary care practices

will be running ahead of the evidence. However, medical home pilot projects in several states are under way, and many others are planned.^{7,32} Although their diversity may frustrate efforts to pool results, these pilots offer a chance to carefully examine which combinations of medical home settings, inputs, and processes are likely to produce the best results.

Guidance for Stakeholders

Beyond the need to test the medical home, there is a need to clearly specify what is being tested: for each intervention, exactly what are the practice settings, practice inputs, and specified processes?33 Without careful identification of medical home components, the use of the phrase "medical home" risks transmitting the appearance of failure (or success) across interventions that have little else in common. For example, practice transformation that is facilitated by significant practice inputs and in-kind support from an integrated health system may lead to desirable outcomes. However, these outcomes may not accurately predict the results of interventions on independent primary care practices (or interventions lacking significant practice resource inputs). Stakeholders who expect a proposed medical home intervention to produce GHC- or Geisinger-like results should ask: to what extent are the setting, practice inputs, and specified processes of the proposed intervention congruent to these prior examples?

Because of its common use in medical home pilots, it is worth pointing out that the NCQA's PPC-PCMH, as a certification instrument silent on practice inputs, cannot completely define a medical home intervention. In addition, the PPC-PCMH does not completely specify the combination of processes expected of primary care practices. Each level of NCQA medical home certification can be achieved in many different ways. If medical home pilots require NCQA certification but give no further guidance about which particular PPC-PCMH elements are expected, the resulting intervention may need to be analyzed as a heterogeneous family of experiments.

The Medical Home in the Context of Overall Primary Care Reform

Well-respected observational research supports the superiority of a primary care–oriented healthcare delivery system.^{34,35} Based on existing evidence, it is unclear whether the transformation of individual primary care practices is the best path to this goal. Other avenues can simultaneously be explored. For example, the recently announced Medicare-Medicaid Advanced Primary Care Demonstration Initiative will evaluate interventions including the majority of primary

care practices in each participating state.³⁶ The proposed expansion of the Medicare Physician Group Practice Demonstration may create accountable care organizations that integrate individual primary care practices into full-service health systems.³⁷ Accountable care organizations may enhance the ability of primary care practices to perform core medical home processes and to share in savings generated across all care settings.³⁸ Results from these new efforts and ongoing medical home demonstrations will provide valuable guidance to the overall revitalization of primary care.

Author Affiliations: From RAND, Arlington, VA (MWF, PSH), Santa Monica, CA (DJL), Boston, MA (ECS).

Funding Source: Financial support for this work was provided by GlaxoSmithKline.

Author Disclosure: The authors (MWF, DJL, PSH, ECS) report no relationship or financial interest with any entity that would pose a conflict of interest with the subject matter of this article.

Authorship Information: Concept and design (MWF, PSH, ECS); acquisition of data (MWF, DJL); analysis and interpretation of data (MWF, DJL, PSH, ECS); drafting of the manuscript (MWF, DJL, ECS); and critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content (MWF, PSH, ECS).

Address correspondence to: Mark W. Friedberg, MD, MPP, Associate Natural Scientist, RAND, 1776 Main St, PO Box 2138, Santa Monica, CA 90407-2138. E-mail: mfriedbe@rand.org.

REFERENCES

1. Sia C, Tonniges TF, Osterhus E, Taba S. History of the medical home concept. *Pediatrics.* 2004;113(5 suppl):1473-1478.

2. Wagner EH, Austin BT, Von Korff M. Organizing care for patients with chronic illness. *Milbank Q.* 1996;74(4):511-544.

3. American Academy of Family Physicians, American Academy of Pediatrics, American College of Physicians, American Osteopathic Association. Joint principles of the patient-centered medical home. 2007. www.medicalhomeinfo.org/Joint%20Statement.pdf. Accessed November 3, 2009.

4. Patient-Centered Primary Care Collaborative. Patient-centered medical home. http://pcpcc.net/content/patient-centered-medical-home. Accessed November 3, 2009.

5. National Committee for Quality Assurance. Standards and guidelines for physician practice connections—patient-centered medical home (PPC-PCMH). Washington, DC; 2008.

6. National Committee for Quality Assurance. Standards and guidelines for physician practice connections—patient-centered medical home (PPC-PCMH) CMS version. Washington, DC; 2008.

7. Mathematica Policy Research Inc. Design of the CMS medical home demonstration. Princeton, NJ: Mathematica; 2008.

8. Martin JC, Avant RF, Bowman MA, et al. The Future of Family Medicine: a collaborative project of the family medicine community. *Ann Fam Med.* 2004;2(suppl 1):S3-S32.

9. TransforMed. National Demonstration Project. http://www.transformed.com/ndp.cfm. Accessed November 3, 2009.
10. Fisher ES. Building a medical neighborhood for the medical home. N Engl J Med. 2008;359(12):1202-1205.

11. Mehrotra A, Liu H, Adams JL, et al. Comparing costs and quality of care at retail clinics with that of other medical settings for 3 common illnesses. *Ann Intern Med.* 2009;151(5):321-328.

12. Bodenheimer T, Berry-Millett R. Follow the money—controlling expenditures by improving care for patients needing costly services. *N Engl J Med.* 2009;361(16):1521-1523.

13. Zuckerman S, Merrell K, Berenson R, et al. Incremental cost estimates for the patient-centered medical home. New York: The Commonwealth Fund; October 2009.

14. Phillips RL, Dodoo MS, Petterson S, et al. Specialty choice and geographic distribution of the physician workforce: what influences medical student and resident choices? Washington, DC: The Robert Graham Center; March 2, 2009.

15. Tsai AC, Morton SC, Mangione CM, Keeler EB. A meta-analysis of interventions to improve care for chronic illnesses. *Am J Manag Care.* 2005;11(8):478-488.

16. Coleman K, Austin BT, Brach C, Wagner EH. Evidence on the Chronic Care Model in the new millennium. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. 2009;28(1):75-85.

17. Chaudhry B, Wang J, Wu S, et al. Systematic review: impact of health information technology on quality, efficiency, and costs of medical care. *Ann Intern Med.* 2006;144(10):742-752.

18. Grumbach K, Bodenheimer T, Grundy P. The outcomes of implementing patient-centered medical home interventions: a review of the evidence on quality, access and costs from recent prospective evaluation studies. University of California, San Francisco Center for Primary Care Excellence; August 2009.

19. Patient-Centered Primary Care Collaborative. Evidence of the effectiveness of the patient-centered medical home on quality and cost. http://pcpcc.net/content/evidence-quality. Accessed November 3, 2009.

20. Rosenthal TC. The medical home: growing evidence to support a new approach to primary care. *J Am Board Fam Med.* 2008;21(5):427-440.

21. Reid RJ, Fishman PA, Yu O, et al. Patient-centered medical home demonstration: a prospective, quasi-experimental, before and after evaluation. *Am J Manag Care.* 2009;15(9):e71-e87.

22. Paulus RA, Davis K, Steele GD. Continuous innovation in health care: implications of the Geisinger experience. *Health Aff (Millwood).* 2008;27(5):1235-1245.

23. Dorr DA, Wilcox AB, Brunker CP, Burdon RE, Donnelly SM. The effect of technology-supported, multidisease care management on the mortality and hospitalization of seniors. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2008;56(12):2195-2202.

24. Counsell SR, Callahan CM, Buttar AB, Clark DO, Frank KI. Geriatric Resources for Assessment and Care of Elders (GRACE): a new model of primary care for low-income seniors. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2006;54(7):1136-1141.

25. Steiner BD, Denham AC, Ashkin E, Newton WP, Wroth T, Dobson LA Jr. Community Care of North Carolina: improv-

ing care through community health networks. Ann Fam Med. 2008;6(4):361-367.

26. Nutting PA, Miller WL, Crabtree BF, Jaen CR, Stewart EE, Stange KC. Initial lessons from the first national demonstration project on practice transformation to a patient-centered medical home. *Ann Fam Med.* 2009;7(3):254-260.

27. McCarthy D, Mueller K, Tillmann I. Group Health Cooperative: reinventing primary care by connecting patients with a medical home. New York: The Commonwealth Fund; July 2009.

28. McCarthy D, Mueller K, Wrenn J. Geisinger Health System: achieving the potential of system integration through innovation, leadership, measurement, and incentives. New York: The Commonwealth Fund; 2009.

29. Counsell SR, Callahan CM, Clark DO, et al. Geriatric care management for low-income seniors: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*. 2007;298(22):2623-2633.

30. Community Care of North Carolina. External Evaluations. http:// www.communitycarenc.com/. Accessed October 25, 2009.

31. Brown R. Strategies for Reining in Medicare Spending Through Delivery System Reforms: Assessing the Evidence and Opportunities. Princeton, NJ: Mathematica Policy Research; September 2009.

32. American College of Physicians. Patient-centered medical home: state-by-state demonstration list. 2009. http://www.acponline. org/running_practice/pcmh/demonstrations/locations.htm. Accessed November 3, 2009.

33. Barr MS. The need to test the patient-centered medical home. *JAMA*. 2008;300(7):834-835.

34. Starfield B, Shi L, Macinko J. Contribution of primary care to health systems and health. *Milbank Q.* 2005;83(3):457-502.

35. Baicker K, Chandra A. Medicare spending, the physician workforce, and beneficiaries' quality of care. *Health Aff (Millwood).* 2004;Suppl Web Exclusives:W184-W197.

36. Healthreform.gov. Medicare-Medicaid Advanced Primary Care Demonstration Initiative. 2009. http://healthreform.gov/newsroom/factsheet/medicalhomes.html. Accessed November 3, 2009.

37. Crosson FJ. 21st-century health care—the case for integrated delivery systems. *N Engl J Med.* 2009;361(14):1324-1325.

38. Rittenhouse DR, Shortell SM, Fisher ES. Primary care and accountable care—two essential elements of delivery-system reform. *N Engl J Med.* 2009;29:29.

Innovative Health Reform Models: Pay-for-Performance Initiatives

Seth W. Glickman, MD, MBA; and Eric D. Peterson, MD, MPH

Abstract

Pay-for-performance (P4P) programs have the potential to improve overall quality of care by narrowing gaps between what national care guidelines recommend and those treatments actually delivered in routine community practice. P4P is also viewed as a tool to promote more efficient use of healthcare resources while improving patient outcomes. P4P provides financial incentives for quality of service instead of quantity of service. Despite the promise of healthcare quality, concerns have been raised that P4P may have potential unintended consequences for patients, physicians, and hospitals. The shortcomings of many traditional P4P programs have fueled the emergence of new and innovative models of payment reform. P4P and newer models that link reimbursement with quality and efficiency show promise to improve patient outcomes and lower costs, but multiple approaches are needed to ensure that future initiatives provide value for key stakeholders, including patients, providers, and payers.

(Am J Manag Care. 2009;15:S300-S305)

For author information and disclosures, see end of text.

What Is Pay for Performance?

The concept of linking financial incentives to the quality of healthcare provided has been termed pay for performance, or P4P. P4P has received significant national attention as a potential means of improving overall quality of care by narrowing gaps between what national care guidelines recommend and those treatments actually delivered in routine community practice.¹⁻⁵ In an era of rapidly rising healthcare costs, P4P is also viewed as a tool to promote more efficient use of healthcare resources while improving patient outcomes. Over the past decade, commercial and federal payers have implemented a vast array of P4P initiatives. The structure of these programs is remarkably diverse, spanning a variety of payment models, intended targets (eg, hospitals, physician groups, individual providers), and clinical conditions. While a number of programs have shown promise, additional work is necessary to determine whether they achieve their intended long-term effects. The purpose of the article is to provide a brief overview of current P4P initiatives, discuss the evidence regarding their effectiveness, and provide insight into newer, innovative payment models that have emerged.

P4P Programs

More than half of commercial health plans in the United States currently use P4P incentives in their provider contracts.⁶ Many of these programs involve joint efforts among employers, health management organizations, pharmaceutical companies, physician groups, academia, as well as for-profit and not-for-profit organizations (Table).^{2,7-13} Complementing efforts by the private sector, the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) has sponsored P4P demonstration projects in a variety of clinical settings, including physician practices, acute care hospitals, dialysis facilities, nursing homes, as well as programs to increase the adoption of information technology and disease management. The largest demonstration project to date is the Hospital Quality Improvement Demonstration (HQID) Project, which offers financial incentives to hospitals based on the inpatient quality of care for 5 clinical conditions-acute myocardial infarction, heart failure, pneumonia, coronary artery bypass surgery, and hip and knee replacement. In addition to these US programs, P4P has gained significant traction overseas.¹⁴⁻¹⁶ For example, the National Health Service (NHS) in the United Kingdom has invested massive resources in P4P initiatives. The NHS's Quality and

Program	Participant	Sponsor	Target	Results
Hospital Quality Improvement Demonstration Project	230 Acute care hospitals in the United States	Center for Medicare & Medicaid Services	Process measures for heart failure, acute myocardial in- farction, pneumonia, hip replacement, coronary artery by- pass grafting surgery	Modest improvements in process performance, no identifiable impact on outcomes
Quality and Outcomes Framework/General Practitioner Pay-for-Performance contract	42 Family practices in England	National Health Service	146 Indicators related to chronic disease and patient experience	Short-term improvements in care which slowed once performance tar- gets were reached
Integrated Healthcare Association Pay-for-Performance Program ¹⁰	225 Physician groups in California	8 Health plans in California represent- ing 10.5 million patients	Multiple, including clinical process measures, patient experiences of care, adoption of informa- tion technology	Modest improvements in targeted areas of care
Bridges to Excellence ¹¹	Multiple provider groups operating in 13 states	Collaborative effort among large employers, including General Electric and Verizon Communications	Includes excellence programs in diabetes, cardiac, spine, and depression	Cost savings in diabetes care, achievement of performance thresholds in diabetes and cardiac care
Hill Physicians Medical Group ¹²	2200 Physicians in North Carolina	Hill Physicians Medical Group serving 332,000 patients in 7 HMOs	Resource utilization, clinical performance (cancer, diabetes, low back pain, immuniza- tion), patient experi- ence, up to 15% of compensation to quality performance	Improvement in threshold diabetes care by 42% and cholesterol levels by 32%
Hawaii Medical Service Association Practitioner and Hospital Quality and Service Recognition Programs ¹³	More than 2500 physicians in its preferred provider plan, 17 hospitals	Blue Cross Blue Shield of Hawaii	Patient safety, adherence to evidence-based guidelines, patient satisfaction	Significant improvements in adherence to clinical measures in a number of areas, including cancer screening, immunization, and heart failure
HMO indicates health maintenance or	ganization.			

Table. Examples of Some of the Largest Pay-for-Performance Initiatives to Date

Outcomes Framework, which provides financial incentives to primary care physicians for 146 quality indicators related to chronic disease and patient experience, has distributed over £2 billion to providers since 2004.

Potential Benefits of P4P

Compensation models that link financial incentives to performance have been widely implemented in other industries and are a powerful lever to influence behavior. P4P is seen as a way to create a "business case" for quality by better aligning payment with quality of service instead of quantity of service.^{17,18} This helps address the issue that hospitals and physicians are not necessarily rewarded for delivering high-quality care. For example, hospitals that produce better health outcomes may paradoxically face lower margins through phenomena such as diagnosis-related group switching and a reduction in unplanned rehospitalizations for the chronically ill.¹⁹ P4P also holds promise because many of the traditional approaches to improving quality, such as physician education, provider certification, and consumerism, have failed, largely due to the fragmented nature of our healthcare delivery system.²⁰ Linking financial incentives to quality is also viewed by many as a more palatable approach than traditional managed care models where financial incentives are provided to physicians to limit referrals and see more patients per day.²¹

Concerns About P4P

Despite the promise of healthcare quality, concerns have

been raised that P4P may have potential unintended consequences for patients, physicians, and hospitals.²² For example, most P4P programs reward providers based on evaluation of a limited number of process performance metrics. If hospitals and physicians become too focused on these metrics, they may lose sight of the global goals of healthcare (analogous to students studying just what is on the test).²³ Some have argued that forcing hospitals and providers to follow select process patterns could stifle innovation and the ability or willingness of organizations to develop creative solutions to improving quality.²⁴ Others have worried that the large fixed costs required to support P4P data collection and quality improvement programs could deviate important resources away from patient care and have unintended consequences.²⁵ In a similar manner, the financial incentives in P4P could paradoxically exacerbate healthcare disparities-either by financially penalizing hospitals that treat underserved populations or by prompting caregivers to avoid sick and "high-risk" patients from their practice.^{26,27}

Evidence Regarding the Effectiveness of P4P

While many have speculated on both the potential positives and negatives of P4P programs, the evidence regarding its impacts has been mixed.²⁸⁻³⁰ A systematic review conducted in 2006 identified 17 studies on P4P published between 1980 and 2005.³¹ These studies focused primarily on programs targeting preventive care services. The studies tended to be inconclusive due in part to their small sample size, specialized setting, and short-term follow-up. More recently, however, there have been investigations on the impact of large P4P initiatives sponsored by the US federal government and the United Kingdom. These studies have generally found that P4P programs were associated with modest improvements in process of care measures, yet none of these programs had an impact on patient outcomes or efficiency of care. For example, Lindenauer et al found that hospitals engaged in both public reporting and CMS' HQID P4P program achieved modestly greater improvements in quality than did hospitals engaged only in public reporting.3 The estimated incremental effect on a composite quality score for cardiac and pneumonia care ranged from approximately 2.8% to 4.3%. Glickman et al evaluated CMS' HQID program in a cohort of 500 hospitals participating in a voluntary quality improvement initiative for acute myocardial infarction and found that financial incentives were not associated with a significant incremental improvement in quality or reduction in mortality.⁴ Evidence from the large P4P program in the United Kingdom for asthma, diabetes, and coronary heart disease suggests that family practitioners achieved high levels of achievement in the first year of the program.¹⁴ Over the ensuing 3 years, however, improvements in the quality of care slowed and actually declined for conditions not linked to financial incentives.¹⁵ Unfortunately, few large-scale, randomized controlled trials have evaluated the effectiveness of P4P interventions.

Issues Involved in the Methodology for P4P Measurement and Provider Ratings

A key challenge to implementing P4P programs is selecting valid and reliable measures of quality and performance. The largest P4P programs to date have focused primarily on processes of care (ie, adherence to evidence-based treatment guidelines). For example, the 2009 CMS Physician's Quality Reporting Initiative is tracking 153 quality measures spanning multiple therapeutic areas.³² A number of professional organizations, including the National Quality Forum, the American Heart Association, and the American College of Cardiology developed consensus methodology for the selection and creation of performance measures.^{33,34} Performance measures must be valid (eg, have a robust evidence base supporting their use), accurate and reliable, easy to interpret, and allow for reliable comparisons among providers. Other important considerations are the clinical relevance of the outcome, adherence to the process measure, and variability in baseline adherence to the measure (ie, is there already a ceiling effect in performance?).

Despite the popularity of using process measures to gauge quality, such measures present significant challenges. Selecting performance measures that do not meet evidence-based criteria may negate their intended effects of improved efficiency and patient outcomes.³⁵ For example, a recent study of quality measures for acute myocardial infarction in 1351 hospitals found that in a resource-constrained environment, hospitals that focus on "administrative" process measures (eg, smoking cessation counseling or discharge instructions) at the expense of clinical interventions (eg, aspirin or angioplasty) have worse patient outcomes.³⁶ Another issue is the possibility of obtaining stable estimates of performance for small hospitals and physician groups or whether additional techniques are needed to account for small and unequal denominators. A recent study by O'Brien et al demonstrated that high-volume hospitals had better performance on average, but were significantly less likely to be identified as "top" hospitals (ie, top decile).³⁷

There are also challenges in finding ways to combine performance measures to create a valid aggregate measure of hospital or physician performance. Composite scores that combine several performance measures into a single ranking are commonly used to assess hospital performance. Yet, existing methods used to create composite scores are highly variable in their weighting of process versus outcomes metrics, which can, in turn, lead to highly divergent provider rankings.³⁸ Composite scores are typically weighted by the total number of treatment opportunities, although evidence suggests that weighting based on how hospitals organize care or the range for possible improvement in scores may provide more useful information.³⁶ Finally, although performance measures are not typically risk-adjusted, a recent study by Mehta et al found that accounting for hospital case mix (such as age, sex, race, insurance status, and medical comorbidities) can dramatically affect a hospital's ranking and financial benefits in P4P programs.³⁹

In addition to process measures, P4P programs can also reward patient outcomes (eg, inpatient mortality, 30-day mortality, 30-day hospital readmission), patient perceptions of care, measures of efficiency (eg, ratio of observed to expected costs), and hospital and physician group structural characteristics (eg, adoption of information technology). Outcomes performance assessment, however, can be challenging due to the potential confounding influence of patient case mix on provider outcomes, as well as the instability of hospital outcome estimates due to low event rates.

New Care Models With Financial Incentives

The shortcomings of many traditional P4P programs, including their limited impact on provider behavior, value, and health outcomes, have fueled the emergence of new and innovative models of payment reform.⁴⁰ Primary care capitation models that include large performance and efficiency bonuses are currently being piloted in Massachusetts. Other groups are moving toward episode-based payments, which reimburse providers on the basis of expected costs for clinically defined episodes of care. The Geisinger Health System recently implemented a bundled payment for coronary artery bypass grafting (ProvenCare) that covers all care 30 days before and 90 days after the procedure, including any complications, hospital readmissions, and follow-up care.⁴¹ This model has been associated with a significant reduction in hospital readmissions and hospital charges, and has been expanded to a number of other clinical conditions, including angioplasty and hip replacement surgery. In California, P4P programs have shifted toward efficiency measurements using bundled payment for acute surgical and medical interventions.⁴²

One of the most promising payment models to emerge is the accountable care organization (ACO).⁴³ This concept is rooted in the observation that there are dramatic differences in Medicare spending, by both region and hospital. Regions with lower per beneficiary spending in Medicare achieve equal or better quality and health outcomes than their counterparts. The goal of the ACO model is to create organizational accountability for quality, improve coordination of care for Medicare beneficiaries, and reward innovations that simultaneously improve healthcare quality and reduce costs.⁴⁴

In 2005, Medicare implemented the Physician Group Practice (PGP) demonstration program in large group practices that serve at least 5000 Medicare patients. The program allows group practices to share the cost savings they achieve in caring for their patients if they simultaneously meet quality improvement targets. The cost savings are calculated by comparing actual spending to a target. The target is determined by the PGP's base year per capita expenditures trended forwarded by a per capita growth rate from the same area. Medicare savings in excess of 2% are shared with CMS depending on whether process performance targets are achieved. In the first 2 years of the program, there was overall improvement in quality-of-care targets and lower risk-adjusted expenditure growth rates for several of the participating groups. A recent study demonstrated that more than 75% of Medicare beneficiaries nationally receive care in ACO-eligible networks (>5000 beneficiaries) and that widespread adoption of ACOs would lead to considerable savings in Medicare spending.43 Yet, there are important challenges to widespread adoption of ACOs. These include fragmentation of provider efforts by competing P4P programs, applicability of ACOs to patients living in rural and underserved areas, and concerns that a primary focus in efficiency may undermine the credibility of these programs among physicians and other stakeholders.

Another promising option is to provide financial incentives for patients to modify their behavior.45 Targeting unhealthy patient behaviors such as smoking, poor diet, and physical inactivity may yield important public health benefits and reduce overall healthcare costs. This is because unhealthy patient behaviors may account for as much as 40% of premature deaths in the United States, whereas inefficiencies in healthcare delivery account for only 10%. In a recent study of 878 employees at a large company, the group that received a \$750 financial incentive for smoking cessation had a significantly high rate of smoking cessation up to 18 months after enrollment compared with those in the group who received no incentives (9.4% vs 3.6%, respectively).46 P4P for patients merits additional study, and future programs will need to draw on insights from behavioral economics in order to optimize the structure of these programs.

Future Directions

P4P and newer models of payment reform hold tremendous promise to improve healthcare quality and reduce costs.

Multiple approaches are needed to ensure that future initiatives provide value for key stakeholders, including patients, providers, and payers. In general, the goal should be to foster innovative approaches to improving quality patient outcomes, promote accountability for quality on the part of both patients and providers, and improve the value of services purchased by federal and private payers.

It is important to continue to build consensus about the selection of evidence-based performance measures, including measures that reward technical aspects of care, outcomes, efficiency, and patient-centered care. Given the traditionally long lag time between the translation of new evidence into clinical practice, it will be critical to find ways to rapidly incorporate validated process measures into everyday use. Greater focus on outcome and efficiency measures appears warranted. Further refinement of risk-adjustment methods is needed to standardize outcome and cost-efficiency metrics and allow for valid benchmarking across providers.

The creation of a more compelling "business case" and value proposition for quality on the part of key stakeholders is essential to creating sustainable quality improvement efforts.47 Adoption of well-designed patient outcome and efficiency measures would encourage providers and hospitals to develop innovative solutions for improving value. In contrast, promulgation of too many measures that focus on technical aspects of care may distract providers and lead to fragmented care. As we transition toward greater use of outcome and efficiency measures, additional investments in comparative effectiveness and health services research will be needed to help payers and providers identify and implement higher-quality, more cost-effective treatment approaches. These efforts would be facilitated by greater investments in large quality improvement registries and patient information systems.

P4P programs will need to be sensitive to hospitals and provider groups that care for vulnerable patient populations, including the underinsured, racial and ethnic minorities, and patients living in rural areas. In addition, further efforts are needed to better understand hospital structural characteristics that facilitate high-quality healthcare delivery, including the role of information technology, management, culture, and organizational structure.⁴⁸

Conclusion

P4P and newer models that link reimbursement with quality and efficiency show promise to improve patient outcomes and lower costs. Future success hinges on collaboration among key stakeholders including patients, physicians, payers, and policymakers. Author Affiliations: From the Duke Clinical Research Institute and the Department of Medicine, Duke University Medical Center, Durham, NC (SWG, EDP), and the Department of Emergency Medicine, University of North Carolina School of Medicine, Chapel Hill (SWG).

Funding Source: Financial support for this work was provided by GlaxoSmithKline.

Author Disclosure: The authors (SWG, EDP) report no relationship or financial interest with any entity that would pose a conflict of interest with the subject matter of this article.

Authorship Information: Concept and design (SWG, EDP); analysis and interpretation of data (EDP); drafting of the manuscript (SWG); and critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content (SWG, EDP).

Address correspondence to: Eric D. Peterson, MD, MPH, Outcomes Research and Assessment Group, Duke Clinical Research Institute, PO Box 17969, Durham, NC 27715. E-mail: peter016@mc.duke.edu.

REFERENCES

1. Chassin MR, Galvin RW. The urgent need to improve quality of care: Institute of Medicine National Roundtable on Health Care Quality. *JAMA*. 1998;280:1000-1005.

2. Institute of Medicine. Rewarding Provider Performance: Aligning Incentives in Medicare (Pathways to Quality Health Care Series). The National Academies Press, 2007. http://books.nap. edu/openbook.php?record_id=11723. Accessed September 23, 2009.

3. Lindenauer PK, Remus D, Roman S, et al. Public reporting and pay for performance in hospital quality improvement. *N Engl J Med.* 2007;356:486-496.

4. Glickman SW, Ou F-S, DeLong DR, et al. Pay for performance, quality of care, and outcomes in acute myocardial infarction. *JAMA*. 2007;297(21):2373-2380.

5. Rosenthal MB, Frank RG, Zhonghe L, Epstein AM. Early experience with pay-for-performance. *JAMA*. 2005;29(14):1788-1793.

6. Rosenthal MB, Landon BE, Normand SL, et al. Pay for performance in commercial HMOs. *N Engl J Med.* 2006;355(18): 1895-1902.

7. Leapfrog Group. Incentives and rewards tools. http://www. leapfroggroup.org/for_members/members_resources/incentives_ and_rewards/ir_tools. Accessed September 22, 2009.

8. National Business Coalition on Health (NBCH). About NBCH. http://www.nbch.org/about/mission.cfm. Accessed September 24, 2009.

9. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ). Index of Diabetes Quality Improvement. Initiatives. Bridges to Excellence Project. http://www.ahrq.gov/qual/diabqual/diabqguideapg.htm. Accessed September 24, 2009.

10. Integrated Healthcare Association. Pay for Performance (P4P) 2008 Results. Executive Summary. August 2009. http://www.iha.org/pdfs_documents/home/02%20-%20P4P%20Results.pdf. Accessed November 3, 2009.

11. Bridges to Excellence. http://www.bridgestoexcellence.org/ Content/ContentDisplay.aspx?ContentID=2. Accessed November 3, 2009.

12. The Commonwealth Fund. http://www.commonwealthfund. org/~/media/Files/Publications/Case%20Study/2009/March/Hill%20 Physicians%20Medical%20Group/1247_Emswiler_Hill_case_ study_rev.pdf. Accessed November 3, 2009.

13. Hawaii Medical Service Association (HMSA). http://www.hmsa. com/mediacenter/press/2007/071127_quality.aspx. Accessed November 3, 2009.

14. Doran T, Fullwood C, Gravelle H, et al. Pay-for-performance programs in family practices in the United Kingdom. *N Engl J Med.* 2006;355(4):375-384.

15. Campbell SM, Reeves D, Kontopantelis E, Sibbald B, Roland M. Effects of pay for performance on the quality of primary care in England. *N Engl J Med.* 2009;361(4):368-378. **16. McDonald R, Roland M.** Pay for performance in primary care in England and California: comparison of unintended consequences. *Ann Fam Med.* 2009;7(2):121-127.

17. Leatherman S, Berwick D, Iles D, et al. The business case for quality: case studies and an analysis. *Health Aff (Millwood).* 2003;22(2):17-30.

18. Weeks WB. Quality improvement as an investment. *Qual Manag Health Care.* 2002;10(3):55-64.

19. Intermountain Health Care. Boston, MA: Harvard Business Publishing; 2002.

20. Brindis RG, Cacchione JG, Drozda JP, et al. American College of Cardiology 2006 Principles to Guide Physician Pay-for-Performance Programs. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2006;48(12):2603-2608.

21. Grumbach K, Osmond D, Vranizan K, Jaffe D, Bindman AB. Primary care physicians' experience of financial incentives in managed-care systems. *N Engl J Med.* 1998;339:1516-1521.

22. Werner RM, Asch DA. The unintended consequences of publicly reporting quality information. *JAMA*. 2005;293(10):1239-1244.

23. Kohn A. Why incentive plans cannot work. *Harv Bus Rev.* 1993;71:54-63.

24. Porter M, Teisberg E. *Redefining Health Care: Creating Value-Based Competition on Results.* Boston, MA: Harvard Business School Press; 2006.

25. Fonarow GC, Peterson ED. Heart failure performance measures and outcomes: real or illusory gains. JAMA. 2009;302(7):792-794.

26. Karve AM, Ou FS, Lytle BL, Peterson ED. Potential unintended financial consequences of pay-for-performance on the quality of care for minority patients. *Am Heart J.* 2008;155(3):571-576.

27. Wharam JF, Paasche-Orlow MK, Farber JN, et al. High quality care and ethical pay-for-performance: a Society of General Internal Medicine policy analysis. *J Gen Intern Med.* 2009;24(7): 854-859.

28. Mehrotra A, Damberg CL, Sorbero ME, Teleki SS. Pay for performance in the hospital setting: what is the state of the evidence? *Am J Med Qual.* 2009;24(1):19-28.

29. Greene SE, Nash DB. Pay for performance: an overview of the literature. Am J Med Qual. 2009;24(2):140-163.

30. Christianson JB, Leatherman S, Sutherland K. Lessons from evaluations of purchaser pay-for-performance programs: a review of the evidence. *Med Care Res Rev.* 2008;65(6 suppl): 5S-35S.

31. Petersen LA, Woodard LD, Urech T, Daw C, Sookanan S. Does pay-for-performance improve the quality of health care? *Ann Intern Med.* 2006;145:265-272.

32. Physician Quality Reporting Initiative. http://www.cms.hhs.gov/ pqri/. Accessed November 3, 2009.

33. Spertus JA, Eagle KA, Krumholz HM, et al. American College of Cardiology and American Heart Association methodology for the selection and creation of performance measures for quantifying the quality of cardiovascular care. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2005;45: 1147-1156.

34. National Quality Forum: Consensus Development Process. http:// www.qualityforum.org/Measuring_Performance/Consensus_ Development_Process.aspx. Accessed November 3, 2009.

35. Glickman SW, Schulman KA, Peterson ED, et al. Evidence-based perspectives on pay for performance and quality of patient care and outcomes in emergency medicine. *Ann Emerg Med.* 2008;51(5):622-631.

36. Glickman SW, Boulding W, Roos JM, et al. Alternative pay-forperformance scoring methods: implications for quality improvement and patient outcomes. *Med Care.* 2009;47(10):1062-1068.

37. O'Brien SM, Delong ER, Peterson ED. Impact of case volume on hospital performance assessment. *Arch Intern Med.* 2008;168(12):1277-1284.

38. O'Brien SM, DeLong ER, Dokholyan RS, et al. Exploring the behavior of hospital composite performance measures: an example from coronary artery bypass surgery. *Circulation.* 2007;116(25):2969-2975.

39. Mehta RH, Liang L, Karve AM, et al. Association of patient case-mix adjustment, hospital process performance rankings, and eligibility for financial incentives. *JAMA*. 2008;300(16): 1897-1903.

40. Rosenthal MB. Beyond pay for performance—emerging models of provider-payment reform. *N Engl J Med.* 2008;359(12): 1197-1200.

41. Episode Based Payment. Mathematica, Inc. http://www. massmed.org/AM/Template.cfm?Section=Home6&CONTENTID= 27550&TEMPLATE=/CM/ContentDisplay.cfm. Accessed November 4, 2009.

42. Robinson JC, Williams T, Yanagihara D. Measurement of and reward for efficiency in California's pay-for-performance program. *Health Aff (Millwood).* 2009;8(5):1438-1446.

43. Fisher ES, McClellan MB, Bertko J, et al. Fostering accountable health care: moving forward in Medicare. *Health Aff (Millwood).* 2009;28(2):w219-w231.

44. The Commonwealth Fund. The Medicare physician group practice demonstration: lessons learned on improving quality and efficiency in health care. http://www.commonwealthfund. org/Content/Publications/Fund-Reports/2008/Feb/The-Medicare-Physician-Group-Practice-Demonstration-Lessons-Learned-on-Improving-Quality-and-Effici.aspx. Accessed November 11, 2009.

45. Volpp KG, Pauly MV, Loewenstein G, Bangsberg D. P4P4P: an agenda for research on pay-for-performance for patients. *Health Aff (Millwood).* 2009;28(1):206-214.

46. Volpp KG, Troxel AB, Pauly MV, et al. A randomized, controlled trial of financial incentives for smoking cessation. *N Engl J Med.* 2009;360(7):699-709.

47. Rosenthal MB, Landon BE, Howitt K, et al. Climbing up the payfor-performance learning curve: where are the early adopters now? *Health Aff (Millwood).* 2007;26(6):1674-1682.

48. Glickman SW, Baggett KA, Krubert CG, et al. Promoting quality: the health-care organization from a management perspective. *Int J Qual Health Care.* 2007;19(6):341-348.

Lessons to Apply to National Comprehensive Healthcare Reform

Douglas A. Conrad, PhD

Abstract

Fragmentation, insufficient coordination of care, and absence of unified accountability for patient care has resulted in medical errors, rehospitalizations, and preventable complications, all of which increase costs and negatively affect patient outcomes. The current US healthcare system is unsustainable and the national healthcare reform package must address cost containment and quality improvement. Four innovative healthcare models-integrated delivery systems, pay for performance, value-based insurance design, and the medical home-strive to improve quality of care and contain costs. None of these models will solve all healthcare problems alone, nor will they all work everywhere. Different regions, patient populations, and purchaser/payer/provider coalitions may respond to different innovations and modified combinations of the models may eventually predominate. Initial evidence from the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services and private sector demonstrations suggests that payment system changes and other innovations would do more than help control runaway healthcare costs. If widely implemented, value-based reforms might achieve long-term improvements in public health. Congress will soon decide whether changing the entire system would be the most value-based reform of all.

(Am J Manag Care. 2009;15:S306-S312)

For author information and disclosures, see end of text.

Most observers agree that the current US healthcare system is unsustainable.¹ Fragmentation, insufficient coordination of care, and absence of unified accountability for patient care transitions and handoffs yield unacceptable levels of redundant testing, emergency department utilization, medical errors, rehospitalizations, and preventable complications,² all costly in dollars and patient outcomes. A national healthcare reform package should address cost containment and quality improvement.³

Proposed bills before Congress have concentrated primarily on insurance coverage.⁴ However, different bills have included Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) patient-centered medical home projects, accountable care organizations, financial incentives for primary care, comparative effectiveness research, "quality measure development processes," and testing of innovative payment structures within CMS.⁴ The legislative proposals mention these value-based innovations briefly and sometimes nonspecifically. Caution is appropriate, because several innovations have not yet been tested for robustness over adequate time periods or diverse geographic areas, and definitions may yet change. It is wise for national legislation to leave details up to states, payers, provider organizations, and other stakeholders. Indeed, many of the initiatives already under way are privately funded and reflect the need for variation and local flexibility in implementation. However, federal embrace of innovations in quality improvement and cost containment, with CMS models and incentives for the private sector, can encourage widespread adoption.

Essential Elements for a Value-Based Healthcare System

Two recent reports described the essential components of an ideal, high-performance healthcare delivery system^{5,6}:

- Payment reform which induces improved patient outcomes
- Patient care that is coordinated among providers and managed across transitions in care settings; healthcare teams for individual patients incorporate physicians, nurses, and other health professionals
- Accountability for total care of the patient which is clearly established
- Clinically relevant information that is available to patient and provider through electronic records and clinical decision support systems

- Patient engagement which is facilitated with easy access to care and information, including after hours and multiple points of entry
- Providers that are culturally competent and provide appropriate education and counseling
- Systems which are continually innovating, monitoring results, and learning to improve quality, value, and patient experience

Incentives, information, evidence-based care processes, and responsiveness to patient and family conditions are fundamental to cultural and structural changes in healthcare delivery.

US Healthcare Components That Require Fundamental Change

Value-based healthcare means maximizing individual and population health outcomes at minimum cost. To achieve this duality of cost containment and quality improvement, several components of the system require fundamental restructuring.

Emphasis on Outcomes

The lack of focus on patient and population outcomes is a major shortcoming of the healthcare system. Enormous sums of money are spent without apparent benefit,⁷ while outcomes such as life expectancy lag behind other industrialized nations. The solution involves cultural shifts among providers and payers. Individual outcomes can improve through accountability for each patient, and public health outcomes through application of evidence-based practice recommendations. Both changes require adequate incentives, information, and accountable organizational structures.

Financial Incentives

Current payment systems offer general financial incentives based on volume, creating a conflict between the economic interest of the provider and the health interests of the patient.⁸ Straight fee-for-service (FFS) motivates high-cost versus high-value care, whereas straight capitation motivates minimal, even insufficient, care. Reformed payment systems should include *selective* financial incentives, such as those described by Glickman and Peterson⁹ for quality improvement.

Certain unintended consequences of quality-related incentives can be minimized. Broad outcomes measures, adjusted for patient risk factors, and blending FFS and capitation schemes decrease the potential for treating to the test.^{10,11} Case-mix adjustment discourages "cream skimming" (selecting patients for whom achieving performance targets is easier) by compensating providers for patients with complex conditions and comorbidities.⁸ This is particularly important in such coordinated care initiatives as integrated delivery systems (IDS) or the medical home, which attract higher-risk patients.²

Evidence supports several conclusions about provider financial incentives⁹⁻¹³:

- Rewards and penalties both get results. Continuous incentives for *absolute* performance relative to achievable targets are more likely to promote improvement than incentives based on performance relative to other providers or all-or-none targets that fail to incent incremental improvement.
- Incentives primarily should target evidence-based care processes known to improve health outcomes (again, because such processes are controlled by the provider), with a secondary emphasis on outcomes per se.
- The best results derive from blending incentives to groups and individuals. Group incentives allow distribution according to group values and support infrastructure improvement, while individual incentives mitigate free-rider problems.
- To sustain active participation of providers, incentives must be attuned to medical professional norms, achievable, certain, frequent, and progressive over the long term.
- Continuous monitoring and reevaluation of performance measures ensures their attainability while improving quality; risk adjustment of patient populations sustains the program.
- To enhance their implementability, payment incentives should be aligned with provider organization structures.¹⁴ For example, capitation and episode-based payments are more conformable with large multispecialty medical groups and IDSs, which have the internal capacity and scope of services to coordinate care across settings and providers and to assume economic risk for the continuum of care. In contrast, FFS is a more natural fit for small, independent practices. Provider infrastructure grants could compensate practices that achieve economies of scale in modifying infrastructures for performance improvement, thus encouraging expansion of smaller practices.

It should be noted that provider financial incentives are less effective for healthcare goals of population access and equity.¹⁰ The Senate and House bills focus on broadening insurance coverage to attain those goals.

Value-Based Insurance Design

A unique consumer incentive mechanism, value-based insurance design (VBID) motivates greater patient engagement.¹⁵ When targeted patient groups have lower out-of-

pocket costs for medications and services of evidence-based high value, compliance becomes less burdensome. When payers switch from generalized to value-based cost-sharing, the cost of increased use of high-value medications and services can be offset by increasing copayments for lower-value services and other benefit design changes.¹⁵ Overall costs can decrease through decreased use of lower value services and less need for emergency department visits, hospitalizations, and treatment for later-stage disease.¹⁵ Employers can realize decreased productivity losses and disability expenses.¹⁵

Care Teams and Coordination of Care

Evidence (mostly cross-sectional) has shown higher quality with large group practices and greater care integration.¹⁶ However, uncoordinated treatment by multiple individual providers remains the norm in most areas. Of US physicians, 32% still practice alone or in 2-person partnerships, 60% in groups of 50 or less.² Inadequate coordination of care may relate to lack of financial incentives for additional communications, long-standing hierarchies in decision making, and the difficulty of establishing committed care teams. Superior efficiency and outcomes occur with teams of primary care and specialist physicians and other professionals (pharmacists, nurses, physical therapists, home health aides) in a variety of inpatient and outpatient settings. However, currently predominant payment models reimburse individual providers for attention to the immediate specialized need at hand without concern for longitudinal outcomes or the "whole person."

Coordinated care requires an organized structure. Although structures vary among the newer models—vertical integration requiring team care, "virtual" integration leaving coordination up to the primary care provider (PCP)—all include care coordination as a means to quality improvement and cost containment. The patient-centered medical home represents an organizational design seeking primary care that is consistently accessible, family-centered, and culturally competent, comprehensive, and well coordinated.¹⁷

Accountability

With multiple providers per patient and insufficient coordination, individual providers remain unaccountable for outcomes. FFS has rewarded unaccountability and poor quality by reimbursing additional care resulting from adverse events and medical errors.¹⁸ CMS recognized this when it began withholding payment for "never events."¹⁹ Quality improvement occurs when payers and all providers share a focus on evidence-based measures of optimal care and patient outcomes. By assuming responsibility for total care of each assigned patient, accountable care organizations (ACOs) change provider focus to ongoing, overall progress and outcome.^{20,21} ACO delivery involves a collaboration of a PCP, specialists, allied health professionals, and a hospital. Enforcement of agreed-upon principles and processes for quality improvement depends on instituting a governance structure. Academic medical centers, extended hospital staff organizations, or the IDSs are examples. ACOs can be vertically or "virtually" integrated, and formed by cooperative agreements among independent providers. With the patient-centered medical home, a PCP, specialist, or hospital may assume the assigned responsibility, depending on the condition of the patient. For a complete clinically and financially accountable care system, an ACO would include a sponsored or owned health plan; however, ACOs can work with other payment sources.¹ To realize their potential, the market and regulatory environment must form a hospitable "neighborhood" for these collaborative organizational forms.²²

Information Technology Infrastructure

Small practices with paper records have perpetuated incomplete provider communication with resulting duplicative testing, missed comorbid diagnoses, drug-drug interactions, and worse. According to the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations, almost 70% of adverse events arise from poor communication and half of those from poor communication during patient handoffs.²³ To improve efficiency, facilitate coordination, and protect patient safety, healthcare reform must include investment in electronic medical records (EMRs) with interoperability standards, shared among each patient's providers, and accessible to the patient. Extant evidence demonstrates that the use of clinical information management and decision support tools within an EMR can improve performance when data are readily retrievable and translatable in context-specific clinical decision applications.²⁴

Standardized EMRs also generate a database of quality-related evidence. This can help care organizations to monitor and improve practice standards and can be used for research on best practices for nationwide quality improvement.

Consumer/Patient Education and Engagement

Because success of substantive reform requires the collaboration of all stakeholders including patients, consumer education is needed to explain the benefits of delivery changes.² As one example of the need for education, focus groups found resistance to the medical home concept because the term reminds people of nursing homes.^{2,22} As another example, most of the information in this supplement is unknown to the general public and absent from media coverage of healthcare reform.

Table. Common and Unique Features of Select Healthcare Models

	P4P	VBID	Medical Home	IDS
Requires or motivates structures or processes intended to improve patient outcomes	x	x	x	x
Designed to reduce duplication and waste	X	Х	X	X
Employs electronic medical record for efficiency, coordination of care, and systemwide evaluation	x	x	x	x
Particularly well suited to patients with multiple comorbidities or complex needs		x	x	x
Encourages prevention and early treatment, reducing disease exacerbation and resource utilization and resulting costs	x	x	x	x
Targets a limited number of chronic and/or high-cost conditions with evidence-based treatment guidelines	x	x		
Integrates healthcare delivery goals with finances (health plans)	X	X	X	X
Requires buy-in and active involvement of participating providers for success	x		x	x
Provides financial incentives, steps, or structures to providers for improved quality of care	x		x	x
Provides financial incentives to patients for treatment adherence		X		
Requires or rewards team care, coordination, and avoidance of errors	X		X	X
Specifies separate payment for care coordination and consultation outside face-to-face visits			x	
Design emphasizes primary care, accessible from multiple points of entry			x	x
Requires or works best with large multispecialty practices and large, well-funded hospitals	x		x	x
Can contribute data for evidence of effective treatments in populations	x	x	x	x
Requires or motivates a patient-centered, culturally competent focus			x	Х
Requires or motivates patient participation in care decision making		X	X	X
Includes accountability of a principal provider for total care of individual patient, including long-term direction and outcome			x	x
Takes advantage of economies of scale to provide latest technology and equipment, high productivity, lower operating and unit costs				x

IDS indicates integrated delivery systems; P4P, pay for performance; VBID, value-based insurance design. Sources: References 9-16 and 24-28.

Patient-centered care relies on engagement of wellinformed patients. Understandable, culturally competent education must be designed into all care processes for accurate ascertainment of patient treatment preferences.² Active patient engagement may also include after-hours Internetenabled electronic "visits."² Disease management programs, principal accountable providers, public outcomes reporting, and patient access to the EMR can all further patient understanding and compliance and may improve outcomes.

Shared decision making between clinicians and their patients is an important catalyst for patient engagement. Extant empirical evidence suggests that shared decision making, coupled with the use of patient decision aids, can lead to changes in ultimate treatment choices²⁵ and that the field of practice may be approaching a "tipping point" in the adoption of these patient-centered practices.^{26,27} Systematic reviews of the evidence further suggest that the use of patient decision aids in the context of a shared decision-making process improves patient knowledge, reduces patients' decisional conflict associated with feeling uninformed or unclear about personal values, reduces patient passivity in decision making, reduces the proportion of patients who remain undecided, and tends to result in reduced rates of elective invasive surgery compared with more conservative treatment options.²⁸

System Monitoring and Adjustment

Healthcare reforms that began as CMS demonstration projects or local business coalition initiatives may require years to prove their benefits. Ongoing reporting and design changes in response to aggregate results can ensure long-term viability and value for the investment of businesses and/or taxpayers. Process and outcomes measures should evolve to reflect ongoing advances in medical research. Changes in structure and processes will also reflect local circumstances including demographics, market conditions, and regulatory environments.

Applying Healthcare Innovations to the National System

None of the models described in this supplement will solve all healthcare problems alone, nor will they all work everywhere. Different regions, patient populations, and purchaser/ payer/provider coalitions may respond to different innovations; modified combinations of the models may eventually predominate. However, the models in this supplement share the objectives of quality improvement and cost containment, with mechanisms that can be effective in a variety of circumstances. A comprehensive healthcare reform package should enable a broad spectrum of innovations to achieve true value-based healthcare spending. The **Table** illustrates unique and overlapping features of the 4 models discussed in this supplement.

Financial incentive options in different parts of the country must consider the sociodemographic, political, economic, cultural, and organizational environment and reflect the nature of healthcare funding and delivery of the area.¹¹ Where structures such as IDS and the medical home are possible, quality incentives can be designed into the structure. Where they are not, quality incentives can come from CMS or private insurers. Multipayer agreement on process and outcomes measures makes it easier for smaller providers to comply; therefore, CMS demonstration projects would be beneficial and serve as templates for other payers. Pay-for-performance (P4P) schemes are easier in large hospitals or provider groups and may not be universally scalable. Conversely, VBID is replicable and scalable anywhere for drugs and most places for other services, provided that those services are accessible to members.

Financial incentives have so far provided only modest quality improvements and cost savings, which may not be enough to offset the costs of structural changes and incentive payments.^{10,12,13} Larger incentives are likely to be necessary, yet resistance to tax and premium increases is strong, so substantial increases in *overall* levels of provider payment seem unlikely. Thus, in a generally "budget-neutral" payment climate, positive incentives for superior performance inevitably will be balanced by penalties or withholds for inferior performance (or at least lower rates of increase). If CMS demonstration projects prove successful, passage of more federally funded incentives may be possible in the future. Meanwhile, P4P is expanding in the private sector along with such structures as IDS and medical homes. VBID sponsored by private employers, cities, and states is incorporating the patient into the financial incentive loop. These incentive projects are being watched closely by other payers and providers, and success could foster increased replication.

Vertical IDSs under unified ownership have generally been developed with large multispecialty physician practices and hospitals or academic medical centers. These vertically integrated systems will be more difficult to implement in areas with fewer provider resources. In those areas, "virtual ACOs" uniting independent providers are possible, but will require innovation in governance and care coordination arrangements.

Because EMRs are generally considered cost-effective or even cost saving,²⁴ implementation has been stressed as a goal of the Obama administration for any healthcare package. However, smaller physician practices and hospitals or clinics serving low-income populations may need additional funding to convert to EMRs and support the systems once installed.

Better patient education and engagement should be possible throughout the healthcare system. Disease-specific societies and government agencies already provide educational materials to providers, and this could be expanded. Government funding for the conversion to EMRs could be contingent on patient access to electronically based education and communication with providers. If providers must guarantee 24-hour electronic response, further financial support would be required for small practices and providers for low-income populations.

Ongoing monitoring and adjustment can be incorporated into all innovations. Privately and publicly funded analysis of data from universally adopted EMRs can identify what works locally and nationally. This research can enrich the evidence base and direct modification of process and outcomes measures, payment systems, and organizational structures.

Conclusion

Tasked with reforming healthcare, Congress has been embroiled in debates about funding. Proposals to increase insurance coverage, improve care quality, and even contain costs, all cost money. As noted in a recent *New England Journal of Medicine* roundtable: "It would be nice to think that reductions in emergency-department utilization, more efficient use of primary and preventive care, would actually save us [enough] money...so that these bills would pay for themselves. They don't pay for themselves, if we're honest about it, and the CBO [Congressional Budget Office]...says no, you need to raise about a trillion dollars."³

Initial evidence from CMS and private sector demonstrations, however, suggests that payment system changes and other innovations in this supplement would do more than help control runaway healthcare costs. If widely implemented, value-based reforms might achieve long-term improvements in public health. All of these initiatives are possible with private funding under ideal circumstances (eg, large contiguous patient populations, well-funded business coalitions, and large provider groups). However, ACOs to implement the goals of outcomes emphasis, care coordination, patient involvement, and provider accountability may not arise without government help in some areas and for some populations. While the private sector continues to explore individual projects in value-based healthcare, Congress will soon decide whether changing the entire system would be the most value-based reform of all.

Author Affiliations: From the Department of Health Services, Center for Health Management Research, University of Washington, Seattle.

Funding Source: Financial support for this work was provided by GlaxoSmithKline.

Author Disclosure: The author reports no relationship or financial interest with any entity that would pose a conflict of interest with the subject matter of this article.

Authorship Information: Concept and design; drafting of the manuscript; and critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content.

Address correspondence to: Douglas A. Conrad, PhD, Professor, Department of Health Services; Director, Center for Health Management Research, Box 357660, Room H660C Magnuson Health Sciences Center, 1959 NE Pacific St, University of Washington, Seattle, WA 98195-7660. E-mail: dconrad@u.washington.edu.

REFERENCES

1. Institute of Medicine (US). Committee on Quality of Health Care in America. Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century. Washington, DC: National Academy Press; 2001.

2. Rittenhouse DR, Shortell SM. The patient-centered medical home: will it stand the test of health reform? *JAMA*. 2009;301(19): 2038-2040.

 Epstein AM, Aaron HJ, Baicker K, Hacker JS, Pauly MV. Health care reform in perspective. N Engl J Med. 2009;361(16):e30.
 American College of Physicians. HR 3200, the Senate Finance Proposal, and the HELP Proposal: "A Comparison." October 13, 2009. http://www.acponline.org/advocacy/where_we_stand/ access/health_reform_comparison.pdf Accessed October 15, 2009. 5. Shih A, Davis K, Schoenbaum SC, et al. Organizing the U.S. health care delivery system for high performance. Commonwealth Fund (Report). August 2008.

6. New England Healthcare Institute (NEHI). Thinking outside the pillbox: a system-wide approach to improving patient medication adherence for chronic disease. http://www.nehi.net/ publications/44/thinking_outside_the_pillbox_a_systemwide_ approach_toimproving_patient_medication_adherence_for_ chronic_disease. Accessed October 22, 2009.

7. McGlynn EA, Asch SM, Adams J, et al. The quality of health care delivered to adults in the United States. *N Engl J Med.* 2003; 348(26):2635-2645.

8. Newhouse JP. Reimbursing health plans and health providers: efficiency in production versus selection. *J Economic Literature.* 1996;34(3):1236-1263.

9. Glickman SW, Peterson ED. Innovative health reform models: pay-for-performance initiatives. *Am J Manag Care.* 2009;15(10): S300-S305.

10. Conrad DA, Perry L. Quality-based financial incentives in health care: can we improve quality by paying for it? *Ann Rev Public Health.* 2009;30:357-371.

11. Conrad DA, Saver BG, Court B, Heath S. Paying physicians for quality: evidence and themes from the field. *Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf.* 2006;32(8):443-451.

12. Rosenthal MB, Frank RG. What is the empirical basis for paying for quality in health care? *Med Care Res Rev.* 2006;63(2):135-157.

13. Petersen LA, Woodard LD, Urech T, Daw C, Sookanan S. Does pay-for-performance improve the quality of health care? *Ann Intern Med.* 2006;145(4):265-272.

14. Guterman S, Davis K, Schoenbaum S, Shih A. Using Medicare payment policy to transform the health system: a framework for improving performance. *Health Aff (Millwood).* 2009;28(2): w238-w250.

15. Fendrick AM, Chernew ME, Levi GW. Value-based insurance design: embracing value over cost alone. *Am J Manag Care.* 2009;15(10):S277-S283.

16. Enthoven AC. Integrated delivery systems: the cure for fragmentation. *Am J Manag Care.* 2009;15(10):S284-S290.

17. American Academy of Family Physicians, American Academy of Pediatrics, American College of Physicians, and American Osteopathic Association. Joint principles of the patient-centered medical home. March 2007. http://www.medicalhomeinfo.org/ joint%20Statement.pdf. Accessed October 15, 2009.

18. Pear R. Medicare, in a different tack, moves to link doctors' payments to performance. New York Times. Dec. 12, 2006;A27.

19. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS). Fact Sheet: CMS improves patient safety for Medicare and Medicaid by addressing never events. http://www.cms.hhs.gov/apps/media/ press/factsheet.asp?Counter=3224. Accessed October 16, 2009.

20. Fisher ES, Staiger DO, Bynum JP, Gottlieb DJ. Creating accountable care organizations: the extended hospital medical staff. *Health Aff (Millwood).* 2007;26(1):w44-w57.

21. Shortell SM, Casalino LP. Health care reform requires accountable care systems. *JAMA*. 2008;300(1):95-97.

22. Fisher ES. Building a medical neighborhood for the medical home. *N Engl J Med.* 2008;359(12):1202-1205.

23. Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations. Improving handoff communications; meeting national patient safety goal 2E. *Joint Commission Perspectives on Patient Safety.* 2006;6(9):9-15.

24. Shekelle PG, Morton SC, Keeler EB. Costs and benefits of health information technology. *Evid Rep Technol Assess (Full Rep).* 2006;(132):1-71.

25. Waljee JF, Rogers MA, Alderman AK. Decision aids and breast cancer: do they influence choice for surgery and knowledge of treatment options? *J Clin Oncol.* 2007;25(9):1067-1073.

26. O'Connor AM, Wennberg JE, Legare F, et al. Toward the "tipping point": decision aids and informed patient choice. *Health Aff (Millwood).* 2007;26(3):716-725.

27. Fanjiang G, von Glahn T, Chang H, Rogers WH, Safran DG. Providing patients web-based data to inform physician choice: if you build it, will they come? *J Gen Intern Med.* 2007;22(10):1463-1466.

28. O'Connor AM, Bennett CL, Stacey D, et al. Decision aids for people facing health treatment or screening decisions. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (online). 2009(3):CD001431.

Supplement Policy Statement

Standards for Supplements to The American Journal of Managed Care

All supplements to *The American Journal of Managed Care* are designed to facilitate and enhance ongoing medical education in various therapeutic disciplines. All *Journal* supplements adhere to standards of fairness and objectivity, as outlined below. Supplements to *The American Journal of Managed Care* will:

- I. Be reviewed by at least one independent expert from a recognized academic medical institution.
- II. Disclose the source of funding in at least one prominent place.
- III. Be free from editorial control exerted by personnel from the funding organization.
- IV. Disclose any existence of financial interests of supplement contributors to the funding organization.
- V. Use generic drug names only, except as needed to differentiate between therapies of similar class and indication.
- VI. Be up-to-date, reflecting the current (as of date of publication) standard of care.
- VII. Be visually distinct from The American Journal of Managed Care.
- VIII. Publish information that is substantially different in form and content from that of the accompanying edition of *The American Journal of Managed Care*.
- IX. Prohibit excessive remuneration for contributors and reviewers.
- X. Carry no advertising.

Publisher's Note: The opinions expressed in this supplement are those of the authors, presenters, and/or panelists and are not attributable to the sponsor or the publisher, editor, or editorial board of *The American Journal of Managed Care*. Clinical judgment must guide each professional in weighing the benefits of treatment against the risk of toxicity. Dosages, indications, and methods of use for products referred to in this supplement are not necessarily the same as indicated in the package insert for the product and may reflect the clinical experience of the authors, presenters, and/or panelists or may be derived from the professional literature or other clinical sources. Consult complete prescribing information before administering.